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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 03 AUGUST 2020 

CHAIRPERSON:    L ight ing seems not  to be as good as i t  

should be.    

ADV SONI SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay let  us cont inue.   I  th ink they wi l l  

at tend to i t .    

ADV SONI SC:  Chairperson you would recal l  that  on Fr iday 

there was an appl icat ion for a var ia t ion of  the di rect ive that  

was issued on the 24 July.  Over the weekend we were told – 

received a not i f icat ion that  Mr Nxasana is now going to be 10 

act ing for Judge Makhubele and her  previous at torneys had 

wi thdrawn f rom the matter.   Ear ly th is morning we received a 

new Not ice of  Mot ion asking for further re l ief  but  

Chairperson for a l l  pract ical  purposes what we have is the 

appl icat ion that  was adjourned on Fr iday and the extent  to 

which i t  is being ampl i f ied today.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   So let  us – you propose to – to let  

me hear what Mr Nxasana has to say? 

ADV SONI SC:   As you please Chai rperson. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay they just  need to sani t ise there f i rst .    20 

ADV NXASANA:   Thank you Chairperson.   Chai rperson the 

si tuat ion is as fol lows.   Indeed, we received instruct ions on 

Saturday to… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you just  want to place yoursel f  on 

record f i rst  proper ly.  
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ADV NXASANA:   Yes thank you.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   Thank you Chai rperson.    

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And you can move your mask a l i t t le bi t  i f  

… 

ADV NXASANA:   Yes thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  you do not  have a problem with that  so 

that  I  can hear you properly.  

ADV NXASANA:   Thank you Chairperson I  am – my name is  10 

Nxasana in i t ia ls MSO of  MSO Nxasana and Associates.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   At torneys based in Durban.   Chai rperson I  

am here represent ing Judge Makhubele.   I  received 

instruct ions on Saturday that  was the 31 – is i t  the 1s t?  Yes 

on the 1s t  – Saturday the 1s t  August  to assist  her wi th th is  

matter and my inst ruct ions were very speci f ic that  I  have to 

br ief  senior counsel  in the matter.   I  have – I  was also given 

the name of  the senior counsel  that  c l ient  intends br ief ing 

and I  have contacted the senior counsel  who then advised 20 

me that  he is – he wi l l  only be avai lable af ter mid- 

September because of  the pr ior engagements that  he is  busy 

wi th.   And the senior counsel  also advised me – he indicated 

that  he wi l l  be appearing before the Chai rperson here in th is  

commission in a matter involving the – I  th ink i t  is the DG of  
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the State Securi ty Agency but  a  date has not  yet  been 

al located for that  matter.   And … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.    

ADV NXASANA:   As a resul t  of  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   As a resul t  of  my instruct ions Chai rperson I  

immediately sent  a Not ice of  Appointment as at torneys of  

record I  th ink i t  was on Saturday – on Sunday i f  I  am not  

mistaken.   I  am seeing cl ient  for the f i rst  t ime because we 

have been communicat ing over the phone since I  am based 10 

in Durban and she is based here.    

At  the t ime of  receiving inst ruct ions I  was also 

simultaneously advised that  – that  was before inst ruct ions 

were conf i rmed that  there was an appl icat ion that  was set  

down on Fr iday and the cl ient  could not  make i t  because of 

the short  not ice and also because of  the developments 

ar is ing f rom the wi thdrawal of  the – of  her at torneys of  

record on that  day.    

Then the si tuat ion is I  pointed out  in the let ter that  I  

wi l l  be appearing today and seeking an adjournment so that  20 

we can ful ly and properly consul t  wi th cl ient  together wi th  

counsel .  

That  is the reason I  am here today.   Thank you 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So you – you are applying for a  
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postponement and the reason for the postponement  or the 

appl icat ion is that  you have been instructed as the at torney 

and your instruct ions are to obtain senior counsel ’s serv ices 

– senior counsel  – the part icular  senior counsel  that  is  

sought to be involved in the matter is not  avai lable unt i l  mid-

September.  

ADV NXASANA:   That  is correct  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Basical ly,  the lawyers are not  ready? 

ADV NXASANA:   That  is correct  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is the problem.  10 

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  your cl ient  had lawyers for a long t ime.  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And according to thei r  let ter as I  

understand i t  – their  correspondence their  mandate was 

terminated on I  th ink they said on Thursday but  I  th ink the 

communicat ion to  the commission was on Fr iday morning 

when the appl icat ion that  your cl ient  had effect ively  lodged 

she had not  put  i t  as an appl icat ion i t  was an aff idavi t  but  I  

decided to t reat  i t  as an appl icat ion because she was making 20 

a certain request  in the aff idavi t  wi th regard to the 

amendment of  the direct ives.    

 That  appl icat ion was set  down for hearing at  two 

o’clock in the course of  the morning.   I  th ink the legal  team 

obtained at  least  I  th ink the secretary of  the commission – 
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act ing secretary of  the commission the correspondence or  

Not ice of  Withdrawal and therefore nobody appeared at  two 

o’clock on her behal f .    

 I  decided to postpone the matter  to today on the 

basis that  i t  was important  that  unless there is  a good 

reason that  is advanced for an adjournment the hear ing of  

her evidence should cont inue today and that  appl icat ion 

would be deal  wi th th is morning.   But  f rom what you are 

saying I  do not  know whether you are in a posi t ion to deal  

wi th anything other  than the appl icat ion for a  postponement.   10 

In other words,  I  do not  know whether you are even in a 

posi t ion to deal  wi th that  appl icat ion i tsel f  insofar as i t  may 

have aspects that  do not  or  may not  relate to a 

postponement.   I t  may be that  al l  of  them relate to a 

postponement but  I  just  want to make sure that  I  understand 

qui te wel l  what i t  is that  you are deal ing wi th.  

ADV NXASANA:   Chair  before I  respond.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV NXASANA:   I  see cl ient  is waving there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   You want to… 20 

ADV NXASANA:   I f  I  may approach her? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay al r ight .    

ADV NXASANA:   Thank you Chai r.   Chai r  perhaps wi thout 

prejudice to cl ient ’s r ights she advises me that  in fact  I  

omit ted to address that  because having then noted that  the 
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matter was set  down on Fr iday I  d id canvass that  issue wi th  

her  wi th  a view to f inding out  i f  she then did make an 

appearance before the commission af ter the erstwhi le 

at torneys had withdrawn.  But  then she indicated to me that  

a lady f rom the commission who cal led her and advised her 

that  she was di rected to appear in person af ter the at torneys 

had withdrawn and that  lady told her that  the matter  was set  

down at  two.   I t  was at  approximately about  hal f  past  one 

when she received the cal l  and i t  was impossible for her to  

make an appearance consider ing that  she had to dr ive and 10 

come here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no I  – I  do understand up to a certain 

point  maybe her inabi l i ty to be here on Fr iday.  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   She may – she may have been in court ,  

she may have had some commitments and the terminat ion of  

mandate of  the at torneys may have happened at  the last  

minute.   So – so i t  is  just  a  pi ty  that  nobody appeared but  I  

d id not  dismiss the appl icat ion I  postponed i t  to today.   So 

my quest ion is whether you are moving that  appl icat ion or  20 

you just  moving an appl icat ion for a postponement because 

of  the reasons that  you have advanced separate f rom 

whatever reasons may have been in  that  appl icat ion.   Or is i t  

– is i t  both.   I  just  want to know what I  am deal ing wi th.  

ADV NXASANA:   Oh thanks Your Worship – sorry Chai r.   
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Chair  my – my standpoint  today is to move an appl icat ion for 

a postponement.   F irst ly,  to deal  wi th the appl icat ion i tsel f  as 

wel l  as to deal  wi th the – the – her test imony.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV NXASANA:   S imply because f rom my reading of  the 

mater ia l  that  has been provided to me and also f rom the 

instruct ions that  I  managed to take telephonical ly f rom c l ient  

Chair  we are deal ing wi th – I  am not  saying that  she must  be 

t reated di fferent ly to other wi tnesses but  the fact  of  the 

matter is she is a si t t ing judge.   And a si t t ing – as a s i t t ing 10 

judge we know that  the matter which she is invi ted to  test i fy 

about  where she has been impl icated by some witnesses that  

matters is serving before the Judicial  Conduct  Commit tee of  

the JSC.  And the – a recommendat ion has al ready been 

taken that  a t r ibunal  should be establ ished to invest igate 

those al legat ions.   The point  I  am making Chair  is that  the 

reason why she seeks the assistance of  senior  counsel  i t  is  

because of  the repercussions that  the matter might  end up 

having on hersel f .   The matter has the potent ia l  of  – of  

get t ing her impeached i f  one were to say so.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   And she knew this .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  that  is not  someth ing she would 

have real ised only recent ly.   That  is something that  she knew 

a long t ime ago.  
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ADV NXASANA:   Chair  I  – I  agree that  she knew about that 

perhaps but  i f  –  I  th ink when she gets the opportuni ty to 

explain hersel f  properly,  she wi l l  take the Chairperson into 

her conf idence and explain what exact ly happened. But  as of  

now Chai r  I  was g iven an – an assurance that  the matter wi l l  

def in i te ly see to f inal i ty and that  is  why I  am here – I  came 

al l  the way yesterday f rom Durban to make sure that  the 

matter – i f  a  postponement  is granted by mid-September 

here counsel  wi l l  be avai lable and we wi l l  have… 

CHAIRPERSON:   You see your  cl ient  has had a long t ime to 10 

make al l  the preparat ions.   She did not  know as far  as I  can 

gather f rom the var ious aff idavi ts and documents that  are in  

the f i le of  the commission.   She did not  just  get  to know that 

there were al l  k inds of  al legat ions against  her wi th regard to  

the role she played when she was Chairperson of  the Board 

of  PRASA only th is year.    She knew that  there were 

al legat ions against  her in regard to her role in  PRASA 

al ready in  2018.   She lef t  the board I  th ink about  mid-March 

2018.  There were court  appl icat ions that  were brought by 

PRASA relat ing to against  Siyaya where al legat ions were 20 

made against  – against  her by I  th ink some of  the wi tnesses 

that  have given evidence.   She – she has known about those 

al legat ions for qui te some t ime.  I f  I  understand correct ly 

f rom correspondence, she hersel f  at  some stage indicated 

that  she wanted to clear her name with  regard to these 
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a l legat ions.   And she has had aff idavi ts – the aff idavi ts of  Mr 

– of  Ms Martha Ngoye,  Mr Dingiswayo and Mr Agmat f rom 

February th is year.   That  is s ix months.   Somebody who was 

very concerned about these a l legat ions would not  even have 

wai ted for a date to – of  hear ing would do al l  the work 

necessary to be ready.   And she has had the aff idavi ts of  Mr 

Botes and Mr Magashoa for the past  at  least  two months,  I  

th ink.   She had at torneys f rom I  th ink f rom soon af ter she 

was served wi th Rule 3.3 Not ices in February or March and 

the at torneys began to correspond with the legal  team of  the 10 

commission.   As I  understand the posi t ion the legal  team of  

the commission communicated to her  that  they would l ike her 

vers ion on the al legat ions al ready at  that  t ime – maybe Apri l  

– months ago.   She did not  furnish the commission wi th her 

vers ion al l  these months.   The only aff idavi t  that  she – or  the 

f i rst  aff idavi t  that  she furnished related to  Mr Botes – Mr 

Botes’ statement and I  th ink in i t  she does deal  wi th  certain 

aspects of  what  happened at  PRASA when she was 

Chairperson of  the Board her relat ionship wi th Ms Ngoye and 

Mr Dingiswayo.   I  am not  saying that  she deals fu l ly  wi th  20 

those a l legat ions but  she does deal  wi th them.  She – those 

at torneys wi thdrew at  some stage a few months ago and she 

indicated that  she was prepared to meet wi th the legal  team 

of  the commission and she was ready to furnish her aff idavi t  

or  aff idavi ts.   And I  th ink that  was e i ther  some t ime in  I  th ink 
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that  some t ime in – towards the end June i f  I  am not  

mistaken.   She had a meet ing wi th the legal  team on the 9 

July.   There may be some issues about how she fel t  t reated 

in that  meet ing but  what has been said and I  th ink what is 

common cause is that  she came to that  meet ing only 

prepared to deal  wi th one aff idavi t  namely that  of  Mr Botes 

and not  al l  the others.   We put  a day aside on Fr iday – 

Fr iday the 24t h for  the hearing of  her evidence.   We lost  that  

day.   We had to shi f t  other wi tnesses in order to  hear  her  

evidence today.   I f  I  grant  her appl icat ion i t  means we lose 10 

another day.   We do not  have a lot  of  t ime as a commission.   

We are operat ing under a court  order that  says we must 

f in ish our work wi thin a certain t ime.  There are many other  

people who must  st i l l  test i fy.   There is – there are real ly  

ser ious problems.   Now i t  is very d i ff icul t  for me to see that  

on what you have submit ted there is a good reason for 

postponement in the l ight  of  a l l  of  these things that  I  am 

saying.   I  am put t ing to you what is in my mind for  you to 

address i f  there is anything you wish to say other than what 

you have been able to say.  20 

ADV NXASANA:   Chair  thank you for giv ing me that  

background.   Chai r  as I  have ind icated that  I  have taken 

tentat ive inst ruct ions I  wi l l  t ry my best  to respond to some of  

the issues that  the Chai rperson has raised.   Chai r  one of  the 

things that  have been… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   Oh I  am sorry let  me also ment ion 

something else.   I f  I  recal l  correct ly her counsel  on Fr iday 

the 24t h  indicated that  there was an undertaking on her  part  

to f i le aff idavi ts or an aff idavi t  by the end of  th is past  week 

and of  course the appl icat ion that  was lodged on – on 

Thursday last  week asked for t ime to f i le the aff idavi ts today 

and I  was hoping that  th is  morn ing one would be told the 

aff idavi ts are ready – are avai lable but  even i f  they are not  

avai lab le I  th ink certainly f rom my s ide and I  th ink the same 

posi t ion wi th the legal  team i t  does not  mean that  we cannot  10 

proceed and I  cannot proceed and hear evidence and she 

can be quest ioned on the var ious matters.   The matters on 

which she would be quest ioned are largely factual .   I  am not  

– I  cannot remember that  there is any legal  complex issue 

that  ar ises.   They are largely factual  matters.    

ADV NXASANA:   Chair  thank you.   I  hear you.   But  Chair  my 

instruct ions are that  there were – there was a per iod of  

lockdown that  also must  be taken into considerat ion.   Also,  

c l ient  is a judge she is a l located work and she has to  at tend 

to a l l  these l i t igat ions.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you see the – the quest ion of  being a 

judge is – i ts importance as I  see i t  re lates to  when she is  

going to be requi red to appear before the commission 

because she could be – i t  could be a date that  on which she 

is supposed to be in court  and there are other people who 



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 14 of 108 
 

would have been ready to appear before her and there would 

be lawyers,  they would be cost  for people and i t  is – so i t  is  

that  publ ic interest  part  that  I  th ink is important .  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Once – once you are not  ta lk ing about that  

you are talk ing about  preparing aff idavi ts.   I  do not  see why 

her s i tuat ion – her work commitments are any di fferent  f rom 

anyone e lse who is not  a judge who has – who also has work 

commitments.   Everybody makes t ime to – to  do what they 

need to do.   There are lots of  people who are not  judges who 10 

are very busy wi th whatever they do but  when they – they 

are requi red to prepare aff idavi ts they prepare aff idavi ts.  

ADV NXASANA:   Chair  perhaps for the sake of  c lar i ty and 

progress can I  – can I  ask – can I  request  that  c l ient 

explains hersel f .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no that  is f ine.  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We can do that .   Wel l  I  th ink i f  she is go ing 

to explain hersel f  i t  seems to me, she would have to do that  

under oath because you are her lawyer.   I  do not  see that  20 

she can … 

ADV NXASANA:   Yes no that  is f ine.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Represent  hersel f  whi le you are here.  

ADV NXASANA:   No i t  is f ine.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so i f  – but  i f  she does that  I  –  under 
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oath that  is d i fferent .  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  f ine? 

ADV NXASANA:   I t  is f ine Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay al r ight .   Thank you.   Wi l l  you please 

administer the oath or aff i rmat ion? 

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your fu l l  names for the record? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Tin tswalo Annah Makhubele.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ion to  tak ing the  

prescr ibed oath? 10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   None at  a l l .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider  the oath to  be b ind ing on 

your  conscience? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you swear that  the ev idence you wi l l  g ive  

wi l l  be the t ru th;  the whole t ru th and noth ing e lse  but  the 

t ru th;  i f  so p lease ra ise your  r ight  hand and say,  so help me 

God.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So help me God.  

REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   You may be seated.    

TINTSWALO ANNAH MAKHUBELE   [d .s .s . ]  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  you are going to be comfortable 

removing the mask to enable you to be heard,  that  is f ine.   I f  

you are not  comfortable wi th that ,  we just  need to make sure 
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we can hear you.   Whatever you are comfortable wi th.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  Chai rperson the mask is made 

with a long beak.   So I  should be able to  speak.   So i f  you 

can hear me proper ly,  I  rather keep i t  on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  no,  no.   That  is f ine.   As long as I  

hear you,  that  is f ine.   I  th ink somebody must check wi th the 

t ranscr ibers i f  they can hear.    

STENOGRAPHER :   [ Indist inct ]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   I  th ink just  say something 

. . . [ intervenes]   10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   . . . then they wi l l  te l l  me.  They wi l l  indicate 

i f  they can hear you properly.    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Can you hear me everybody? 

STENOGRAPHER :   [ Indist inct ]   

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m? 

STENOGRAPHER :   [ Indist inct ]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is muff l ing,  the sound.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Thank you,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay thank you.   Thank you.   Okay Mr 20 

Nxasana.  Wel l ,  Judge Makhubele,  your counsel  says i t  is 

bet ter that  you explain yoursel f ,  to address some of  these 

issues that  I  have raised.   You have heard what  I  have 

ra ised,  is i t  not? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Chai rperson,  I  have actual ly  been 
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handing notes to  my at torney.   You probably rea l ise that  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  saw that ,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  was get t ing rest less and I  was,  at  

some point ,  I  ra ised my hand and I . . .  at  some point  I  wanted 

to stand up.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  I  d id not  see you raise your hand.   

Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because I  real ised something is  

about  to repeat  i tsel f  here.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   My at torneys. . .  my senior counsel  

are very competent ,  as in Mr Shakoane, senior counsel  of  

many years,  appeared on my behal f  on 24 July.    

 Under simi lar c i rcumstances as Mr Nxasana here,  not  

even having had one minute eye. . .  physical  or eye-contact  

communicat ion wi th me.   

 And al though I  was at  home.. .  I  was not  watching the 

proceedings.   My fami ly was.   And I  read a lot  of  reports  

about  i t .   And because me and him, we never  had a 20 

consul tat ion.   There were a lot  of  factual  inaccuracies.    

 And I  see i t  happening when Chairperson t r ies to get  

informat ion that  I  only can give to th is Commission.   Mr 

Shakoane and my at torneys,  previous at torneys,  a competent  

black law f i rm were ser iously embarrassed on 24 July.  
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 Despi te their  protest  machines,  that  they have not  had a 

consul tat ion wi th  me but  they had to represent  me under 

those ci rcumstances.  

 And you can imagine what that  does to one’s sel f -

conf idence and one’s law f i rm because the media,  the publ ic 

had a go at  them, taking into account their  inabi l i ty to 

represent  me properly because they did not  have a 

consul tat ion wi th me.  

 So when I  say a repeat,  I  see Mr Nxasana is t ry ing to 

phone . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Why did you not  have a consul tat ion wi th 

them? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  wi l l  explain.   I  have al ready 

explained Chairperson.   So I . . .  Mr Nxasana and I ,  when we 

talked,  I  said I  have al ready lodged an appl icat ion and i f  I  

must  deal  wi th  that  appl icat ion,  I  wi l l  deal  wi th i t  mysel f  

today Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Actual ly,  I  do not  want to  give i t  

wi thout  answering the quest ions that  you have raised in my 20 

absence on 24 July.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Whatever context ,  whether i t  wi l l  be 

for you to consider the appl icat ion but  simply made me to 

explain,  so that  when someone represents me and put  i t  as 
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an appl icat ion,  the Chairperson should understand.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  have no. . .  I  am not . . .  the 

al legat ions against  me relat ing to  one issue of  PRASA, I  

have no problem with that .   Chair  has al ready indicated in  

my aff idavi t  when I  have deal t  wi th the evidence of  Advocate 

Botes,  I  have already touched on what actual ly happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I . . .  that  is my version.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And I  have al ready said that  is my 

vers ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So for al l  intense and purposes.   My 

vers ion is al ready . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Is al ready. . .  okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is al ready before the Commission.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  may be because Chair  I  have not  

had sight  of  the t ranscr ipt  of  the evidence of  Ms Ngoye and 20 

Mr Dingiswayo.  I  wi l l  need to supplement.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And obviously wi th  the assis tance of 

my legal  team.  So I  am not  scared of  those al legat ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  what I  am scared of  Chairperson 

is the percept ion that  has been created that  I  am this 

arrogant person,  disrespect ful ,  refusing to work wi th the 

Commission.   Chai rperson,  i f  you have read my aff idavi t  in  

the matter of  Advocate Botes,  or  rather,  my complaint  

against  Advocate Botes.   I  even . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  have read i t .   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  have indicated that  even before this  

Commission sat ,  one of  the wi tnesses against  me,  that  is  

Uni te Behind,  which is going to  be represented by Mr 10 

Achmat.   They had already started a campaign.   They have 

given me a name ‘state capture judge”.   So when they say,  

“state capture judge”,  they are not  referr ing to you 

Chairperson.   They are referr ing to me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   They generated a lot  of  art ic les 

through one of  their  onl ine publ icat ions,  f i rst  book,  Peter 

and. . .    Even before you had your f i rst  s i t t ing ca l l ing me 

“state capture judge”.    

 So I . . .  I  am.. .  these words scares me Chairperson.   The 20 

percept ion that  i t  is going out  there about who I  am 

Chairperson.  

 So in  the aff idavi t  that  I  have f i led,  I  wi l l  answer al l  your  

quest ions wi th regard to the issues that  you have raised wi th  

my erstwhi le senior counsel  which he was not  able to  
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art iculate.   

 And Chai rperson,  I  wi l l  demonstrate before you that ,  one 

day when I  was l istening or watching the proceedings,  

Chairperson you were te l l ing somebody whatever 

correspondence goes out ,  i t  goes wi th your. . .  you may not  be 

signing i t  but  you are aware of  everything.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.   Just  repeat  that  last  sentence.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   That  you are aware of  every 

correspondence that  stand out  to the wi tnesses or outsiders.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  you must  have misheard.   I  am not  10 

aware of  al l  correspondence that  goes out  of  the 

Commission.   I f  I  was to be aware of  al l  of  i t ,  I  would not  

have t ime to do anything.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   There is,  however,  correspondence that  I  

see,  for example,  when the former president  appeared before 

this Commission,  I  d id announce that  the speci f ic  

correspondence that  had been addressed to him in which he,  

through his lawyers,  responded in a certain way,  I  d id say 

that  I  was responsible for that  correspondence and 20 

therefore,  i f  they had anybody to cr i t ic ise they should 

cr i t ic ise me.   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  I  am . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   But  otherwise,  there is a  lot  of  

correspondence that  goes out  wi thout  me seeing i t  but  I  do 
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see some correspondence when there is a reason for me to 

see i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  there is one emai l  I  w i l l  refer  

to.   I t  is  maybe some 29 June f rom the act ing Secretary of  

the Commission . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . to me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And when I  complained about short  

not ice of  hearings and. . .  the evidence that  I  wi l l  present  to  10 

you Chairperson wi l l  show you the kind of  not ices I  have 

been given.   The t ime periods.    

 Then she respond.. .  in that  case,  I  was given. . .  in  the 

case of  Advocate Botes,  the not ice came to me of  the 

hearing on twenty. . .  28 or  29 June,  he was due to test i fy on 

the 1s t  of  July.  

 You tel l  me Chai rperson i f  that  is suff ic ient  not ice?  And 

with. . .  and same with Mr Mogashoa.  I  do not  know i f  he 

ended up test i fy ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   He has not  test i f ied yet .  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  the not ice,  I  received a day 

before his test imony.   So when I  complained about the short  

not ice,  the act ing secretary repl ied to my emai l  and then 

they were ta lk ing amongst  themselves as a team. 

 But  I  was copied in that  emai l ,  where she was saying 
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there has been an inst ruct ion that  the correspondence f rom 

me should be di rected to you Chai rperson to deal  wi th.  

 So that  is only. . .  maybe three weeks.   Three weeks ago.   

But  throughout I  have been communicat ing wi th the 

Commission wi th almost  everybody and anybody.  

 And at  some point ,  I  wi l l  show you,  one would not  know 

what the other  one has already wri t ten to  me about.   And so I  

intend to show you Chairperson that  I  heard on 24 July,  you 

acknowledged that  I  am not  an ordinary. . .   

 I  am Judge Makhubele.   I  am just  a simple gi r l  but  I  10 

occupy the posi t ion of  a judge.   I  am not  an ordinary person.   

And then I . . .  because your rules do not . . .   

 I  th ink the argument wi l l  be,  your  rules. . .  you did not  

ant ic ipate to be deal ing wi th judges or people who wi l l  be 

occupying high off ices would appear before you but  they do 

not  make provision.    

 But  I  then pointed out  to  the Commission.   I  wi l l  show 

you the correspondence Chai rperson that . . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   The closest  to that ,  I  th ink should be 20 

appl ied,  is the Superior Courts Act  because . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   But  hang on Judge Makhubele.   We need 

to. . .  there is an appl icat ion for a postponement that  Mr 

Nxasana has moved.  We need to analyse that .   Now I  

understood that  Mr Nxasana wished you to clar i fy  certain 
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matters wi th regard to that  appl icat ion.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  Chai rperson what I  rea l ised is 

that  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.   I  am sorry.   I  am interrupt ing 

you but  I  am sorry.   I  understand f rom what you. . .  f rom part  

of  what you have said that  you are saying as far as deal ing 

wi th al legat ions against  you relat ing to your role at  PRASA,  

you do not  have a problem with that .   Did I  understand you 

correct ly? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  sa id. . .  because when I . . .  I  never  10 

when Miss Interpreter. . .  your interact ion wi th Mr Nxasana, I  

thought you are saying I  have not . . .  I  have had this 

complaint  for long.   I  have not  given a vers ion.   And al l  I  am 

saying is,  I  have given a version.   I t  may not  been a 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  may not  be in a form that  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  might  not  be as ful l  as you would have 

l iked.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  have g iven a version.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  so you have given a version? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Am I  to understand that  as far as you are 

concerned that  there might  not  be much to add to that  

vers ion? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  said. . .  i t  is  in my appl icat ion.  

Remember,  I  . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  whatever you have said.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . I  have not . . .  I  have. . .  I  d id not  

at tend the hearings of  Ms Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   My former at torneys requested 10 

t ranscr ipts.   They have not  been given those t ranscr ipts.   So 

I  may want to add when I  receive those t ranscr ipts.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   In the appl icat ion that  I  am going to 

move, i f  Chair  says I  must  move i t ,  I  have made that  request  

that . . .  wi th regard to Ms Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo because 

they are the only di rect  wi tnesses that . . .  for what happened 

at  PRASA.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  would want to have sight  of  thei r  20 

evidence and then I  add my version which,  obviously,  I  have 

to conf i rm.  I t  was in a state. . .  i t  is not  in a sworn statement.   

I t  is in a statement that  I  submit ted at  the Pretor ia Bar.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  wi l l  have to then conf i rm that  
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statement and then add what I  need to add.   And also,  in the 

appl icat ion I  have also indicated there,  there are certain  

invest igat ions that  were conducted by. . .  certainly,  let  me not  

speak about Advocate Botes’ devices because I  have already 

requested that  informat ion which I  have not  yet  been 

provided wi th.  

 But  on my part ,  on the day when I  have consul ted wi th 

the legal  team,  a forensic invest igator came for the 

consul tat ion and he took my detai ls,  my ID number,  my cel l  

number.  10 

 And he was going to request  cel l  phone records for a  

speci f ic per iod.   Remember wi th. . .  between me and mister. . .  

and Advocate Botes,  the issue is who cal led who.  That  is 

very important .   I t  may sound t r iv ia l  but  i t  is very important .  

 So we provided the invest igator wi th that  informat ion.   

That  was on the 9t h of  Ju ly.   Today is the 3r d  of  August .   I  

was informed i t  takes four days.    

 So in  the appl icat ion that  I  have made,  I  have made that  

request  that  I  need that  informat ion.   So those are things 

that  I  may want to  supplement . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   To. . .  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . to the. . .  but  wi th regard to the 

ci rcumstances that  br ings me before you Chai rperson 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  have already given a version.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You. . .  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  have.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No,  that  is . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So what I  was saying is that  when 

Chairperson asked Mr Nxasana about my commitments,  my 

fai lures. . .   Can I  answer? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because he does not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  H’m.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  saw him for the f i rst  t ime 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes and he said so too.  [ laughs]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   He f lew f rom.. .  we spoke. . .  we have 

been speaking since maybe Fr iday or  Thursday evening.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  then yesterday,  then we agreed 

that  he must  appear.   Then he f lew over.   I  do not . . .  we met  

here at  the recept ion . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . .as inside in Chai rperson.   And 

Chairperson,  may I  just  remind Chairperson that  i t  is not  just  

about  legal  representat ion.   I t  is about  eff ic ient  

representat ion because when my legal  team does not  have a 

chance to even talk to me for a day or 30-minutes to put  
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something to assist  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  But  that  is because you inst ructed 

them late.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  but  also Chai rperson,  the other  

th ing I  want to correct  is,  the previous at torneys. . .  i f  I  can 

take you through how they. . .  thei r  . . . [ indist inct ]  in my matter.    

 In February they have deal t  wi th my matter,  just  

correspondence because they were al ready deal ing wi th the 

JCC matter on my behal f .    

 So they repl ied to one correspondence.   And that  is on 10 

the 24t h of  February when I  f i rs t  received the Rule 3.3 

Not ice.  

 The f i rst  Rule 3.3.  Not ices came,  I  th ink,  on the 21s t ,  

22n d February of  th is year.   So these at torneys,  because they 

were already assist ing wi th the JCC matter,  they then repl ied 

to those not ices.  

 And they indicated,  r ight  f rom the beginning,  that  the 

counsel  that  is assist ing me at  the JCC is conf l icted because 

he is on retainer wi th the PRASA.   

 So he,  obviously,  f rom an ethica l  point  of  v iew,  he 20 

cannot be appearing before me.. .  to  assist  me in that  matter  

because the same complainants are his br ief ing cl ients.  

 So that  was the end of  February Chairperson.   And then 

I  explained that  then. . .  we then had a lot  of  exchange with  

the secretar iat .  
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 I  then appeared before the JCC just  before Nat ional 

Lockdown.  And then there was Nat ional  Lockdown on the 

30t h of  March.   As Mr Nxasana says,  that  per iod must  be 

taken into account.    

 I t  had only been about three weeks since I  was served 

wi th the Rule 3.3 Not ices.   Then there was Nat ional  

Lockdown from 30 March where no one could anything and 

then when you resumed Chairperson . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  a lot  of  work could be done dur ing. . .  

even Level  5 and Level  4 Lockdown, using technology 10 

wi thout  meet ing people.   We, ourselves,  in the Commission,  

you know, did qui te a lot  of  work.   People could be consul ted 

vi r tual ly and emai ls could be exchanged.  Al l  of  that .   So a 

lot  of  work could be done without  . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .physical ly meet ing wi th people.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  agree ful ly Chair  because we have 

been si t t ing.   I  d id research duty just  af ter Nat ional  

Lockdown and then that  is when we were start ing wi th th is  

MS teams because we al ready in the dig i ta l  p lat form.  20 

 But  what I  am ta lking about is for  me to consul t . . .  to 

appoint  and consul t  an at torney under Level  5.   That  was 

impossible Chai rperson.   

 And I  d id indicate to the Commission because they wrote 

to me somet ime in  Apr i l  and then I  said as soon as. . .  you wi l l  
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see f rom the papers,  one of  the quest ions I  asked them for  

reassurance was:   “Please,  i f  you get  a designat ion as an 

essent ia l  service,  let  me know because I  may use that  to  

t ravel  to consul t  wi th my at torneys”.  

 I  d id ask them that  Chai rperson.   I  wi l l  show you the 

correspondence at  the r ight  t ime.  And then we.. .  then there 

were other issues.    

 Then when you resumed, you announced you have 

resumed.  And then. . .  I  then. . .  that  is when end of  May,  I  

received those not ices about  Advocate Botes and Mr 10 

Mogashoa.   

 And I  then wrote the Commission and said. . .  i t  may not  

have been immediate ly.   I  explained why not  immediately 

because i t  came in a week when I  was doing urgent  

appl icat ions.   Two weeks.  

 Then when I  f in ished,  I  then wrote to the Commission to  

say I  have read the aff idavi t  of  Advocates Botes and Mr 

Mogashoa and I  th ink I  want to get  on wi th th is matter.   

 I . . .  can you please let  the legal  team get  in touch wi th 

me?  And because in i t ia l ly I  had raised a lot  of  object ions.   20 

Can I . . .  I . . .  what  Mr Botes says here now requi res me to act  

immediately.  

 Then I . . .  that  is  when I  wrote the let ter of  23 June 

Chairperson.   And then I  then deal t  wi th the issue of  how I  

was approached by the legal  team. 
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 And then the agreements we reached but  in between two 

three days before mister. . .  Advocate Botes test i f ied,  I  was 

then told he was test i fy ing and which was then impossible.  

 Even before the legal  team, as I  have commented 

Chairperson,  he came to test i f ied.   But  then I  said I  

requested leave f rom JP Mlambo that  I  need to f i le th is 

aff idavi t .  

 And he gave me days off  Chairperson and I  f i led this.   

So i t  is not  t rue.   Because I  see these things are being 

reported that  I  never did anything.   I  f i led an aff idavi t  just  a  10 

day before Advocate Botes test i f ied.  

 And then the arrangement was I  wi l l  consul t  wi th the 

legal  team who prepared the aff idavi t  for the other wi tnesses 

because that  one of  Mr Botes was speci f ic to him.  

 And in my let ter Chai rperson,  I  made request . . .  a 

request  that :   “Can I  p lease test i fy dur ing reses?”  Because 

we were approaching reses.    

 The let ter is very clear.   I  said:   “Can I  test i fy on the 

evidence of  Advocate Botes because dur ing June reses. . .?”   

 And then. . .  wel l ,  the Commission wi l l  explain why then 20 

even before I  consul ted wi th the legal  team, then they sa id. . .  

they then set  the date for the 24t h.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So Chairperson,  I  am t rying to 

explain that  there is a lot  of  th ings that  . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . .has been said about  me 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . that  I  fee l  I  am not  leaving wel l .   I f  

I  you say I  must  leave,  I  wi l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   [ laughs]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  I  [ laughs] . . .  I  would not  want to 

leave this Commission wi thout  deal ing. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  Chai rperson,  I  f i led an aff idavi t .   

I t  is 47-pages long.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  know.  I  had to read al l  47-pages.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And I . . .  i t  is a sequence and I  was 

answering each and every quest ion that  I  have been told I  

must  respond to.   The purpose of  at taching the 

correspondence was to show the sequence and the issues 

that  were being discussed.   And then again . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   That ,  of  course,  is  . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . I  was asked to explain why I  pul led 20 

out  of  the consul tat ion wi th the legal  team and I  took t ime to 

respond to. . .  to answer you Chai rperson.   I t  is for  you 

Chairperson to decide whether my explanat ion makes sense 

or not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  H’m.  



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 33 of 108 
 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And I  was. . .  or there are other th ings 

I  was asked to address and I  d id but  Chai rperson the legal  

team answered my aff idavi t  on Fr iday.   I  received i t  Fr iday 

morning.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink i t  was. . .  i t  was. . .  wel l ,  I  th ink they 

responded.. .  I  do not  know when they responded but  

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Ja,  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   . . .your aff idavi t  came on Thursday,  I  th ink.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  wi l l  a lso tel l  you the pressure that  I  10 

had to f inal ise that  aff idavi t  because my at torneys let  me 

down.  Remember,  I  was doing opposed rol l  last  week.   So 

we were. . .  we would be consul t ing by telephone.  Draf t . . .  

sending a draf t  for them to set t le and then them br inging i t  

back to me and then me wait ing.  

 But  i t  was clear that  we were not  going to be able to  f i le  

the statements,  the sworn statements.   So what we were 

t ry ing to do was to tel l  Chai rperson that  t ime.. .  those 

t imef rames are impossible to comply wi th,  having regard to 

the fact  that  I  was si t t ing in an opposed rol l  and I  only had 20 

three days.  

 And the opposed ro l l  runs for a week Chai rperson.   So 

by s ix o’c lock on the due date,  my at torneys then told me 

that :   “Look,  Judge we think. . . ”   I  do not  know i f  th is. . .  what  I  

am saying fal ls wi thin a pr iv i leged at torney/cl ient  but  for  your 
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purpose Chai r,  because I  must  respond to th is quest ion.  

 By 18:00. . .  remember,  dur ing the day I  am in court .   By 

18:00 I  am expect ing a set t led aff idavi t  f rom my at torneys.   

They then tel l  me that   “Look,  i t  is impossible.   We cannot  do 

this”.    

 What were my.. .  my opt ions were to si t  back or do 

something.   I  decided to  do something Chai r.   I  was working 

f rom chambers.   I  then cal led my fami ly:   “Come here.   We 

must f inal ise this aff idavi t ” .   My fami ly assisted me.   We put  

together the aff idavi ts.   We le f t  my chambers  a t  a round 12  10 

a .m.  because I  d id  no t  want  to  de fy  you orde r,  Cha i r.   We 

went  to  the  po l i ce  s ta t ion ,  the  po l i ce  were  re luc tan t  bu t  

they f ina l l y  agreed to  cer t i f y  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The a f f idav i t  and the  annexures,  

a l l  to ta l l ing  140 pages.   12  a .m.   And then I  ca l led  my one  

ch i ld  has a  b igger  scann ing  mach ine  to  come to  the  house 

and we s tand –  we s lep t  a t  4  a .m.   That  a f f idav i t  was sent  

to  the  Commiss ion  around twenty  to  four,  Cha i rperson,  

because I  d id  no t  want  to  de fy  your  o rde r,  I  sa id  ra ther  20 

when the  Cha i rperson wakes up,  the  a f f idav i t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  shou ld  be  there .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The a f f idav i t  shou ld  be  there  and  

then I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  o ther  i ssues.   You w i l l  see  the re  
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was no not ice  o f  mot ion  because …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  there  was no not i ce  o f  mot ion .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  a l l  the  issues tha t  I  am 

request ing  have been addressed in  the  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja ,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And thereaf te r  we d id  no t  even –  

you know,  when i t  i s  your  own mat te r  you even fo rge t  how 

th ings are  supposed to  be  done.   I  even fo rgo t  to  pag ina te .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  jus t  –  we jus t  scanned and  10 

sent  th rough and  then we –  bu t  when yesterday I  rea l i sed  

oh,  th is  th ing  i s  no t  pag ina ted ,  then I  sa t  down and  

pag ina ted.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And then  I  sa id  bu t  there  i s  no  

no t ice  o f  mot ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then I  then sent  th rough the  no t ice 

o f  mot ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  every th ing  tha t  I  am request ing  

is  in  tha t  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  then,  Cha i rpe rson,  I  was 

ta lk ing  about  the  lega l  team’s  response to  the  issues.   I  d id  
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no t  jus t  wake up  and say I  want  to  f ind  th is  a f f idav i t ,  I  

wanted to  respond to  the  issues tha t  made you,  

Cha i rperson,  to  i ssue a  subpoena,  a  regu la t ion  10 .6  

aga ins t  me.   That  i s  tan tamount  to  a  war ran t  o f  a r res t  o r  a  

summons and the  regu la t ion  is  c lear,  i t  says  may –  i t  g ives  

you a  d iscre t ion  and obv ious ly  same th ing  i f  i t  was an  

app l i ca t ion  to  resc ind  a  judgment  ob ta ined in  my absence.   

I  w i l l  have to  pu t  fac tors  tha t  i f  you  had been aware  o f  me 

s i t t ing  there  on  the  24  Ju l y  you wou ld  no t  have issued a  

regu la t ion  10 .6  no t ice  aga ins t  me.   That  i s  the  purpose o f  10 

tha t  a f f idav i t ,  Cha i rperson.  

 And then the  lega l  team responds in  f i ve  pages –  

we l l ,  i t  i s  no t  the  vo lume but  i t  i s  the  substance,  bu t  they 

do  not  dea l  w i th  my –  the  mer i t s  o f  what  I  have sa id .   They 

s imp ly  say we deny we gave t ime …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  I  

…[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then they need t ime to  f ind  a 

substant ive  answer  to  my a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  we l l ,  they  w i l l  speak fo r  themse lves.   20 

I  th ink  we need to  have some f ina l i t y.   I  cer ta in l y  read your  

47  page a f f idav i t  on  –  I  th ink  I  read i t  on  Thursday,  so  I  am 

aware  o f  what  you say i n  i t .   I  was aware  when  the  mat te r  

was supposed to  be  heard  a t  2  p .m.  on  Fr iday.   I  have read  

your  ear l ie r  a f f idav i t  tha t  you f i led  in  response  to Mr  
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Bo tha ’s  a f f idav i t  so  I  am aware  o f  a l l  o f  those th ings.    

 I  th ink  I  need to  say th is .   Noth ing  tha t  has been  

sa id  so  fa r  changes my inc l ina t ion  no t  to  g rant  a  postpone  

but  i f  there  i s  anyth ing  tha t  you have not  sa id  wh ich  you  

wou ld  l i ke  to  say  in  suppor t  o f  the  app l i ca t ion ,  I  am g iv ing  

you another  ten  m inutes  to  address me then you have had  

your  t ime.   Now whethe r  you use tha t  ten  m inutes  or  he  

uses i t  o r  you take  f i ve  m inutes ,  he  takes f i ve  m inutes ,  I  

leave tha t  to  you but  I  want  us  to  have f ina l i t y  on  the  

quest ion  o f  a  pos tponement .  10 

 Wel l ,  Cha i rperson,  I  wou ld  request  the  mat te r  to  

s tand down so  I  can d iscuss w i th  my a t to rney on  the  issue  

o f  postponement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because ,  as  I  say,  we d id  no t  

d iscuss.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no… 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  then f rom my pa r t ,  wha t  I  can 

te l l  you  is  tha t  -  as  I  have sa id ,  p repar ing ,  consu l t ing  w i th  

lawyers ,  p repar ing  fo r  e f f i c ien t  representa t ion  requ i res  me 20 

to  be  no t  in  cou r t .   Imag ine  today,  i t  i s  my read ing  day fo r  

tomorrow’s  mat te rs ,  I  am s i t t ing  here .   I  am an emot iona l  

be ing .   When I  l eave here  I  am expected to  go  and read 

f i les  fo r  tomorrow’s  mat te rs .   I  mean,  i f  I  had not  been 

g iven the  week o f f .   So i t  i s  –  I  rea l i se  i t  i s  –  I  rea l i se  i t  i s  
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imposs ib le  and I  th ink  I  need to  p repare .   Even i f  I  were  to  

do  the  dra f t ing  myse l f  I  need to  p repare ,  I  need  to  pu t  

together  documents  and I  may have noted a t  some po in t  I  

asked JP Mlambo tha t ,  p lease,  jus t  g ive  me spec ia l  leave,  

wh ich  I  s t i l l  i n tend to  do  because I  am not  cop ing ,  

Cha i rperson.   I  am not  do ing  myse l f  a  good serv i ce  and as  

my a t to rney has  a l ready sa id ,  th is  mat te r  has ser ious 

imp l ica t ions fo r  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And i t  i s  no t  someth ing  tha t  I  can 10 

take  l igh t  and say le t  me not  jus t  go  and appear  w i thout  

consu l ta t ion  w i th  a t to rneys bu t  I  request  tha t  we ad journ  so  

I  can br ie f  my a t to rney.   I  d id  someth ing  unconvent iona l  

jus t  now because ,  you know,  when  you have counse l led  an  

a t to rney,  he  is  the  one who must  make submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  Cha i rperson must  unders tand,  

we a re  on ly  meet ing  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  d id  no t  –  the  l ine  o f  your  –  o r  20 

ra the r,  you r  conversa t ion  w i th  h im I  rea l i sed  tha t  we are  

go ing  back to  tha t  i ssue tha t  here  is  a  d i f f i cu l t  S ta te 

Capture  Judge,  she is  cont rovers ia l ,  she does not  want  to  

respond.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Then tha t  i s  when I  dec ided  I  need  

to  address you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  can you a l low  us  an  

oppor tun i ty  and I  th ink  10  minutes ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  too  

shor t  a  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  was g iv ing  you ten  m inutes  to  say 

whatever  e l se  you might  w ish  to  say in  suppor t  o f  your  

app l i ca t ion  i f  there  i s  anyth ing  you have not  sa id  and I  

th ink  i t  m igh t  be  be t te r  tha t  I  hear  what  Mr  Son i  has to  saw 10 

before  we a l low the  ad jou rnment  because then you wou ld  

be  knowing what  he  has had to  say.   So I  w i l l  g ive  you the  

t ime but  I  want  us  to  maybe ad jou rn  i f  poss ib le  when the re  

w i l l  be  no th ing  fu r ther  tha t  you have not  sa id  in  suppor t  o f  

the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  you want  to  say.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  I  have,  bu t  under  my  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh you say –  or  a re  you say ing  tha t  

some o f  the  th ings you want  to  say you wou ld  l i ke  to  

consu l t  h im f i rs t?  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  why I  am 

say ing  our  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Can we consu l t  so  tha t  when Mr 

Son i  makes submiss ions,  we  have a l ready  p laced  

every th ing  tha t  we need to  p lace  before  you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   You say ten  m inutes  wou ld  no t  be  

enough?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  –  we l l ,  le t  my a t to rney 

speak now …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t to rney or  counse l ,  what  do  you  say?  I  

do  no t  want  us  to  spend too  much t ime tha t  we  do not  

have.  10 

ADV NXASANA:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    On th ings tha t  m ight  be  dea l t  w i th  

w i thout  an  ad journment  bu t  i f  there  i s  a  need fo r  

ad journment  –  i s  there  any –  are  you ab le  to  say anyth ing  

about  how much t ime you need?  

ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r,  can I  p ropose tha t  we be g iven a t  

leas t  30  m inutes?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  what  I  am go ing  to  do ,  I  th ink  I  

wou ld  ra ther  –  what  I  w i l l  do  is ,  le t  me hear  what  Mr  Son i  

has to  say inc lud ing  on  the  amount  o f  t ime and tha t  does  20 

not  mean tha t  your  par t  i s  f in ished,  I  w i l l  s t i l l  a l low you –  I  

w i l l  s t i l l  l i ke  the  quest ion  o f  tha t  ad journment  bu t  I  jus t  

want  us  to  make use o f  the  t ime as  much as  we can .   Okay,  

so  le t  me hear  Mr  Son i .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Thank you,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Bo th on  the  app l i ca t ion  so  fa r  as  we l l  as  

on  the  request  fo r  30  m inutes .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Son i?  

ADV SONI  SC:   Cha i rperson,  I  am go ing  to  take  in to  

account  the  in te rac t ions tha t  you have heard  w i th  my 

learned f r iend.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV SONI  SC:   And what  Judge Makhube le  has sa id .   

Cha i rperson,  the  purpose o f  today is  to  dec ide  on  the  10 

app l i ca t ion ,  th is  one,  and Judge Makhube le  says tha t  the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  was se rved on us  in  the  ear ly  hours  o f  

Thursday is  the  a f f idav i t  in  suppor t  o f  the  app l i ca t ion .    

May I  jus t  make th is  po in t ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  the  f i rs t  

app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  was made on the  24  Ju l y  

w i thout  any papers  and tha t  i s  a  mat te r,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  

you ra ised w i th  my lea rned f r iend who then appeared fo r  

Judge Makhube le ,  bu t  i s  there  no  substant ive  app l i ca t ion?  

And reasons were  g iven fo r  tha t ,  good or  bad,  bu t  i t  was  

g iven.  20 

 And then we have now a  fu r the r  app l i ca t ion  w i th  

now a  substant ive  app l i ca t ion .   We submi t ,  Cha i rpe rson,  

tha t  the  app l i ca t ion  be fore  you must  be  de termined by  what  

i s  conta ined in  the  a f f idav i t  in  suppor t  o f  tha t  app l i ca t ion .  

 Now I  have heard  Judge Makhube le  say we l l ,  we  
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may w ish  to  respond to  d i f fe ren t  th ings in  the  a f f idav i t  

where  she re fers  to  the  lega l  team.   Cha i rperson,  we do  

not  want  to  because tha t  i s  no t  the  issue before  you today.  

 The quest ion  rea l l y  i s  –  and th is  i s  the  issue ,  

Cha i rperson,  f rom the  24 Ju ly  when app l i ca t ion  fo r  

postponement  was made and the  d i rec t i ve  was g iven,  

Judge Makhube le  knew tha t  she had to  f i le  her  papers ,  he r  

a f f idav i t  by  the  29  Ju ly  and she  wou ld  have to  appear  

today.   What  was then requ i red  was cou ld  tha t  d i rec t i ve  no t  

be  compl ied  w i th?   Noth ing  in  the  a f f idav i t  addresses 10 

anyth ing  tha t  happened a f te r  the  24 t h .   So,  Cha i rpe rson  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y,  i f  one  goes on the  bas is  tha t ,  

as  Judge Makhube le  ind i ca tes ,  she has g iven her  vers ion  

in  the  a f f idav i t .   I t  m igh t  no t  be  as  fu l l  as  she might  have 

re fer red ,  i t  seems tha t  then there  was less  work  to  be  done  

in  p repar ing  the  a f f idav i t ,  an  a f f idav i t  wou ld  jus t  

supp lement  tha t  vers ion .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  ge t  the  impress ion  tha t  what  she  20 

says is  you have got  the  g is t  o f  my  vers ion  a l ready.   

ADV SONI  SC:   There  is  one fu r the r  mat te r  tha t  I  must  you,  

Cha i rperson.   Judge Makhube le  says tha t  par t  o f  the  

reason she is  seek ing  the  ad jou rnment  i s  tha t  she has 

asked fo r  the  t ranscr ip t s  o f  the  ev idence o f  Ms Ngoy i  and 
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Mr  D ing iswayo.   Wel l ,  Cha i rperson,  on  the  23  Ju ly  her  

a t to rneys asked fo r  i t  a t  about  11  o ’c lock  on  the  23r d  and a t  

about  four  o ’ c lock  or  th ree  o ’ c lock  on  the  ve ry  same day 

they were  g iven the  l ink  to  the  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  the  webs i te .  

ADV SONI  SC:   To  the  t ransc r ip t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  they cou ld  have got  i t  f rom the  23 r d .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Yes.   And,  Cha i rperson,  a t  tha t  t ime,  tha t  

i s  the  a t to rney tha t  was rep resent ing  Judge Makhube le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t ,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  the  ora l  ev idence  10 

tha t  was g iven by  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr  D ing iswayo in  re la t ion  

to  Judge Makhube le ’s  ro le  a t  PRASA was substant i a l l y  the 

same as what  i s  in  the  a f f idav i t .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  cor rec t?   I s  my reco l lec t ion  

cor rec t?  

ADV SONI  SC:   Abso lu te ly.   And,  Cha i rperson,  you w i l l  

reca l l  tha t  in  the  case o f  Mr  D ing iswayo a l l  he  d id  was  

conf i rm the  cor rec tness because i t  was la te  in  the  day and 

ins tead o f  hav ing  h is  ev idence fo l low on the  next  day I  20 

proposed tha t  he  mere ly  conf i rms i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV SONI  SC:   So  –  and,  Cha i rperson,  you are  abso lu te l y  

r igh t  in  regard  to  Ms Ngoy i ,  a l l  she  d id  was e f fec t i ve l y  se t  

ou t  what  was se t  ou t  in  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  she made.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SONI  SC:   Cha i rperson,  we submi t  tha t  the  day must  

be  used fo r  the  purpose tha t  i t  has  been se t  as ide  fo r,  

namely  fo r  Judge  Makhube le  to  g ive  her  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   I  am go ing  to  take  a  tea  break,  i t  i s  

now about  seven teen minutes  pas t  e leven.   I  am go ing  to  

re turn  a t  quar te r  to  twe lve .   Whatever  you need to  do  –  so  

tha t  i s  tea  break  and whatever  d iscuss ions you need to  

have w i th  your  a t to rney,  use  tha t  t ime.   When I  come back,  

I  w i l l  g ive  you the  ten  m inutes  to  say whatever  you might  10 

s t i l l  need to  say in  suppor t  o f  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement .   I  can  ind ica te ,  as  I  have a l ready ind ica ted ,  

tha t  my inc l i na t ion  is  to  d ismiss  the  app l i ca t ion .   I f  no th ing  

is  sa id  tha t  pe rsuades me when I  come back,  the  

app l i ca t ion  w i l l  be  d ismissed and I  w i l l  need us  to  s ta r t .  

 Now the  quest ion  o f  whethe r  there  was good cause  

fo r  you not  to  f i le  a f f idav i t s  on  Wednesday,  tha t  need not  

be  dec ided now.   I  can dec ide  i t  even la te r.   Or  what  i s  

more ,  what  i s  impor tan t  i s  whether  today we are  ab le  to  

p roceed to  hear  your  ev idence.   So tha t  i s  the  inc l ina t ion ,  I  20 

am g iv ing  you the  benef i t  o f  knowing what  i s  in  my m ind.    

 When we come back,  I  w i l l  g ive  you ten  m inutes  to  

see whether  there  is  anyth ing  e lse  you want  to  say and  

then i f  I  fee l  tha t  I  can dec ide  immedia te ly,  I  w i l l  dec ide  

immedia te ly  i f ,  f rom what  you say,  I  need more  t ime.   Then  
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we w i l l  take  i t  f rom there .   Yes,  Judge Makhube le?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Cha i r,  there  is  an  app l i ca t ion .   A re  

you say ing  you a re  no t  go ing  to  hear  me because in  tha t  

app l i ca t ion  I  have made requests  tha t  requ i re  Cha i rpe rson  

to  make orders .   A re  you say ing  my app l i ca t ion  is  no t  go ing  

to  be  heard?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  remember,  I  sa id ,  you know,  I  need  

–  ea r l ie r  on  I  sa id  I  need to  know exact ly  what  we are  

dea l ing  w i th  today and there  is  an  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement .   I  have g iven you t ime to  address me on the  10 

app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  and I  am say ing  tha t  I  am 

go ing  to  g i ve  you ten  m inutes  a f te r  the  ad journment ,  

because we have been dea l ing  w i th  i t  fo r  a  long t ime 

a l ready,  to  address me.   I f  there  i s  anyth ing  e l se  tha t  you 

want  to  address o the r  than the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement ,  you w i l l  need to  te l l  me but  you w i l l  

remember  tha t  when we s tar ted  I  asked Mr  Nxasana 

exact ly  what  i t  i s  tha t  we are  dea l ing  w i th  because I  

wanted to  be  sure .  

 So what  I  am say ing  is ,  I  have heard  what  you have  20 

sa id  up  to  now.   I  have heard  what  Mr  Nxasana has sa id  up  

to  now.   Based on what  has been sa id  to  me,  I  am inc l ined 

to  d ismiss  the  app l i ca t ion  bu t  I  have not  made a  dec i s ion  

to  d ismiss  i t ,  I  w i l l  g ive  you more  t ime to  address me.   But  

I  am say ing  tha t  I  gave you  ten  m inutes  a f te r  the 
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ad journment  to  address me and i f  there  i s  anyth ing  e lse  I  

have missed tha t  you want  to  b r ing  to  my a t ten t ion  tha t  w i l l  

be  the  t ime to  b r ing  i t  to  my a t ten t ion  and then we w i l l  take  

i t  f rom there .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    The reason I  am ask ing ,  Cha i r,  i f  

you  can fo rg ive  me,  i s  because i f  you s ta r t  by  d ismiss ing  

my app l i ca t ion  fo r  postponement  then in  the  –  in  my 

a f f idav i t  I  have a l ready sa id  the  no t ice  o f  mot ion  tha t  I  sent  

i t  i s  ac tua l l y  wha t  I  am request ing  in  my a f f idav i t .   And in  

…[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  why shou ld  you not  dea l  w i th  

tha t  a f te r  the  ad journment ,  exact ly  what  you want  to  ra ise ,  

why shou ld  you not  inc lude i t  a f te r  the  ad jou rnment?   Ja ,  

we w i l l  ad journ  now,  we w i l l  resume a t  quar te r  to  and then  

I  w i l l  g ive  you tha t  oppor tun i ty  be fore  I  make  a  f ina l  

dec is ion .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Thank you .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  we ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Nxasana you were  go ing  to  

address whatever  e lse  you might  no t  have addressed to  me 

ear l ie r  in  suppor t  o f  the  app l i ca t ion .  

Jus t  sw i tch  on  your  m ic ,  ja .  

ADV NXASANA:    Thank you Cha i r.   Cha i r  I  f i rs t  ind ica ted  



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 47 of 108 
 

tha t  when I  s tood  up . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you want  to  move your  mask a  l i t t le ,  

so  I  can hear  you  proper ly,  thanks.  

ADV NXASANA:   Cha i r  when I  to ld  the  Cha i rperson tha t  

tha t  the  ins t ruc t ions are  to  move an app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement  based on the  reasons,  espec ia l l y  tha t  we  

have not  consu l t ed .    Cha i r,  I  was under  the  impress ion  

tha t  today the  mat te r  was,  obv ious l y  se t -down fo r  the  

app l i ca t ion  tha t  my c l ien t  has brought  and I  was  mov ing  

tha t  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  to  enab le  her  to  enab le  10 

her  to  ge t  lega l  ass i s tance even i f  to  a rgue tha t  

app l i ca t ion ,  I  don ’ t  know i f  the  Cha i r  unders tands me? 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you are  mov ing  an app l i ca t ion ,  no t  

on ly  fo r  the  postponement  o f  the  hear ing  o f  he r  ev idence  

but  a lso  fo r  the  postponement  o f  her  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement?  

ADV NXASANA:    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  cor rec t?  

ADV NXASANA:    That  i s  what  I  was say ing ,  a l though I  

hear  the  c l ien t  is  say ing  tha t  she –  because I  haven ’ t  –  20 

tha t  i s  the  reason why I  was mov ing  tha t  app l i ca t ion ,  

p rec ise ly  because I  fe l t…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  there  was an app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement ,  you come,  no t  to  move tha t  app l i ca t i on  fo r  a  

postponement  bu t  to  move another  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  
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pos tponement  o f  the  postponement?  [Laughter ]  What  i s  

tha t  Mr  Nxasana?  

ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r  the  bo t tom l ine  is  i t ’s  c lear  tha t  

Judge Makhube le  requ i res  lega l  ass i s tance.   Yes,  she has  

exp la ined to  the  Cha i rperson how she ended up  dra f t ing  

the  a f f idav i t  herse l f ,  when she had  ins t ruc ted  a t to rneys and 

she sa id  in  her  own words tha t  the  a t to rneys –  a f te r  the  

a t to rneys had le t  her  down and because…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t ’s  c lear  ou t  aga in  what  we are  

dea l ing  w i th .   I s  i t  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  tha t  10 

was postponement  today,  inc lud ing  an  app l i ca t ion  fo r  the  

amendment  o f  the  D i rec t i ve  o f  24  Ju ly  o r  a re  you mov ing  

an app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  o f  tha t  postponement  

app l i ca t ion?  

ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r,  my v iew was to  move an 

app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  what ,  postponement  o f  what?  

ADV NXASANA:    O f  her  tes t imony f i rs t  and  a lso  I  

answered tha t  I  unders tood tha t  the  mat te r  was se t -down 

on the  30 t h  a t  two fo r  the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  c l ien t  has  20 

brought ,  wh ich  app l i ca t ion  cou ld  no t  p roceed fo r  the 

reasons tha t  I  have advanced but  Cha i r,  I  then sa id  tha t  I  

submi t ted  tha t  she requ i res  lega l  ass is tance because o f  

the  imp l ica t ions  tha t  a l l  those  proceed ings may have,  

tak ing  i n to  cons idera t ion  tha t  the  mat te r  i s  se rv ing  be fore  
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the  JCC and a  recommendat ion  has a l ready been made 

tha t  the  t r ibuna l  shou ld  be  es tab l i shed,  tha t  was on tha t  

p remise  but  then  when the  Cha i rperson pressed me wi th  

quest ions tha t  i s  when I  sa id ,  c l ien t  i s  here  to  exp la in  

espec ia l l y  because there  was an impress ion  tha t  c l ien t  was  

de lay ing  the  mat te r  to  –  she was de lay ing  to  come to  the  

Commiss ion  and  i f ,  Cha i rperson ,  the  Cha i rperson has 

a l ready ind i ca ted  i f  the  Cha i rperson is  inc l ined to  re fus ing  

the  postponement  then based on the  reason tha t  the  

Cha i rperson has fu rn ished  then the  –  then my app l i ca t ion  10 

or  my  submiss ion ,  Cha i r,  i s  t ha t  i f  the  Cha i rperson looks 

a t  the  mat te rs  o f  mot ion  tha t  the  c l ien t  f i l ed  la te las t  n igh t ,  

you ’ l l  see  Cha i rperson tha t  you  are  go ing  back  to  the  

…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Can I  have a  copy o f  tha t  Not ice  o f  

Mot ion ,  I  d id  see i t  ear l ie r  on  bu t  I  jus t  want  to  have  a  look  

a t  i t  now,  yes Mr  Nxasana.  

ADV NXASANA:    Then,  Cha i r,  my submiss ion  i s  tha t ,  I  

hea r  the  Cha i rpe rson say ing  tha t  the  mat te r  –  tha t  Judge 

Makhube le  i s  expected to  tes t i f y  on ,  i s  pure ly  o f  a  fac tua l  20 

na ture  bu t  Cha i r,  i f  you  look a t  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  she f i led  in  

the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  the  Regu la t ion  10  sub-sect ion  6 ,  you  

see tha t  she has made ve ry  ser ious a l legat ions aga ins t  the  

lega l  team,  the  very  same lega l  team tha t  i s  expected to  

lead her  ev idence .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  she  b r ings her  app l i ca t ion  in  

regard  to  the  lega l  team a t  the  las t  m inute .   She has known 

the  members  o f  the  lega l  team o f  the  Commiss ion  i nvo lved  

in  th is  mat te r  fo r  months  and o f  course  she d id  have a  

consu l ta t ion  w i th  them on the  9 t h  o f  Ju ly,  we l l ,  maybe she  

might  no t  have known,  she might  have known one  before  

June,  I ’m  not  sure ,  bu t  cer ta in l y  she had a  consu l ta t ion 

w i th  them on the  9 t h  o f  Ju ly  so  she knew them,  a t  leas t  a t  

the  la tes t  on  tha t  da te .   P r io r  to  t ha t  she had,  as  she sa id  

ear l ie r  on  herse l f ,  she had ra ised cer ta in  ob jec t ions wh ich 10 

inc luded one o f  the  members  o f  the  Commiss ion ’s  lega l  

team invo lved in  the  PRASA mat te r  bu t  she la te r  w i thdrew 

a l l  the  ob jec t ions tha t  she had ar t i cu la ted  and was 

prepared to  consu l t ,  wh ich  she d id  on  the  9 t h  o f  Ju ly.   From 

the  9 t h  o f  Ju ly  she knew,  a t  leas t ,  the  two members  o f  the 

Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team who are  invo lved in  the  mat te r.   

On Fr iday the  24 t h ,  i t  was,  i f  I  reca l l  co r rec t l y,  i t  was not  

one o f  her  g rounds fo r  a  postponement  tha t  she  had  an 

ob jec t ion  to  members  o f  the  lega l  team.   When she f i led 

her  a f f idav i t  on  Thursday las t  week,  yes  she has expressed 20 

cer ta in  unhapp iness w i th  regard  to  members  o f  the  lega l  

team which  is  in  the  a f f idav i t  bu t  there  has been qu i te  a  lo t  

o f  t ime fo r  her  to  ra ise  such issues,  a t  leas t  f rom the  9 t h .   

We ad jou rned on the  24 t h ,  we ad journed today and she has 

ra ised,  now,  these concerns tha t  she has ra i sed.   I t  seems 
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to  me tha t  she  shou ld  have ra ised them much  ear l ie r  

number  one.   Number  two,  what  about  the  fac t  tha t  the  

members  o f  the  lega l  team wi l l  no t  rea l l y  dec ide  anyth ing  

re la t ing  to  her,  they w i l l  pu t  ques t ions to  her,  I ’m  the  one 

who w i l l ,  u l t imate ly,  make a  dec is ion ,  what  do  you say  

about  tha t?  

ADV NXASANA:    Yes i t  may be so  bu t  I  th ink  Cha i r,  as  a  

w i tness,  i f  the  w i tness is  mak ing  such ser ious a l legat ions 

aga ins t  members  o f  the  lega l  team,  Cha i r,  I  submi t  that  

they must  respond and f rom the  answer ing  a f f idav i t  you 10 

see tha t  on ly  one member  has responded but  no t  fu l l y  to  

the  a l legat ions and there  is  no t  even a  conf i rmatory  

a f f idav i t  f rom the  ev idence leader…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t ’s  go  to  the  ac tua l  a l legat ions or  do  

you want  to  address –  to  address them.   As I  unders tand i t ,  

I  th ink  she sa id  they must  ind i ca te  i f  they ’ve  done  some 

work  fo r  PRASA or  tha t  k ind  o f  th ing  wh ich  suggests  to  me 

tha t  i t ’s  no t  –  i t  m igh t  no t  be ,  even a  s i tua t ion  tha t  she ’s  in  

possess ion  o f  any in fo rmat ion  he rse l f  in  regard  to  one o f  

the  members  o f  the  lega l  team,  I  th ink  she d id  no t  want  to  20 

pu t  fo rward ,  in  the  a f f idav i t  what  the  issue was and  I  th ink ,  

p rev ious ly,  she had done the  same in  regard  to  one  

member  o f  the  lega l  team but  she  had sa id  tha t  she was 

w i thdrawing tha t  ob jec t ion  w i th  regard  to  –  when she  

w i thdrew ob jec t ions,  i t  inc luded tha t  ob jec t ion  aga ins t  tha t  
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one member  o f  the  lega l  team.   So  – and she w i thd rew her  

ob jec t ion  and then br ing  i t  back.  

ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r  tha t  is  a lso  another  p rob lem,  

Cha i r,  tha t  I ’m  go ing  to  address the  Cha i r  on .   The o ther  

d i f f i cu l t y,  Cha i r,  i s  tha t ,  I  hear  the  Cha i r  i s  ask ing  

quest ions bu t  they are  quest ions tha t  I  cannot  answer  

s imp ly  because I  haven ’ t  taken fu l l  ins t ruc t ions,  I  haven ’ t  

had the  oppor tun i ty  to  consu l t…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  bu t  you a re  argu ing  on the  bas is  o f  

an  a f f idav i t  tha t  she f i led  on  Thursday.  10 

ADV NXASANA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Las t  week.  

ADV NXASANA:    Bu t  Cha i r  I  wasn ’ t  aware  o f  the  ob jec t ion  

tha t  she w i thdrew ear l ie r  on ,  tha t ’s  my 

prob lem…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  bu t  you d id  hear  he r  la te r  –  ea r l ie r  on  

because she a l so  ment ioned tha t  she had w i thdrawn 

cer ta in  ob jec t ions.   I  th ink  the  ob jec t ions about  PRASA 

might  no t  have been par t  o f  any ob jec t ion  a t  tha t  t ime.   So,  

I  th ink  the  ob jec t ions tha t  may be  new,  may be ob jec t ions 20 

about  whether  members  o f  the  lega l  team have done work  

fo r  PRASA and the  way she fee l s  she was t rea ted  on the 

9 t h  o f  Ju ly  in  the  consu l ta t ion .   I  th ink  those are  the  on ly  

ones tha t  may be new,  you must  te l l  me i f  I ’m miss ing  

someth ing?  
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ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r  about  new ones I ’m not  sure  bu t  

what  you have sa id  i s  …[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  what  you know a lso ,  was the  

ob jec t ions.  

ADV NXASANA:    I s  what  I ’ ve  read  about  in  the  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV NXASANA:    Yes and Cha i r,  my unders tand ing  o f  her  

request  in  te rms o f  the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  she has b rought  in  

te rms o f  11 .1  i s  tha t  she was ask ing  the  members  o f  the 

lega l  team to  dec la re  the i r  in te res t ,  i f  they  have any.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  means she doesn ’ t  have 

in fo rmat ion  whether  they have a  conf l i c t  o f  in te res t  o r  no t  

o therw ise  she wou ld  no t  be  ask ing .   She wou ld  be  say ing ,  

I ’m  aware  tha t  th is  and th is  i s  the  pos i t ion .  

ADV NXASANA:    Ja ,  bu t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  mean,  we are  go ing  to  c lose  to  ha l f  a  

day now,  I  want  f ina l i t y.   F ive  me your  las t  submiss ions in  

the  next  f i ve  m inutes ,  whatever  you want  to  address,  I ’ ve  

g iven you more  than ten  m inutes ,  we have got  to  have  

f ina l i t y.  20 

ADV NXASANA:    Yes Cha i r,  I  th ink ,  Cha i r  the  jus t i ce  w i l l  

on ly  be  done in  th is  mat te r,  Cha i r,  i f  Judge Makhube le  

were  to  be  –  i f  the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  she has brought  herse l f  

was go ing  to  be  heard  be fore  the  Cha i rperson was go ing  to  

make a  ru l ing  on  the  issue o f  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  
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pos tponement .   The reason why I  say  tha t ,  i t ’s  because i t ’s  

there  in  the  app l i ca t ion  tha t  she ’s  b rought ,  the  app l i ca t ion  

in  te rms o f  Ru le  11  sub-sect ion  1 ,  tha t  i s  my submiss ion  

and a l so  Cha i r,  in  the  event  the  Cha i rperson,  as  he  has  

ind ica ted  tha t  he  is  inc l ined to  d ismiss ing  the  app l i ca t ion ,  

in  the  event  tha t  the  app l i ca t i on  is  d ismissed  fo r  a  

postponement  to  enab le  he r  to  consu l t  w i th  her  lega l  team,  

tha t  w i l l  mean,  bas ica l l y,  tha t  she doesn ’ t  have lega l  

rep resenta t ion  because in  te rms o f  the  ru les  o f  the 

Commiss ion ,  she ’s  en t i t led  to  lega l  representa t ion  and one  10 

o f  the  powers  o f  the  Cha i rperson is  to  g rant  the  lega l  

rep resenta t i ve ,  appear ing  on  beha l f  o f  the  imp l ica ted  

w i tness,  leave to  re -examine the  w i tness wh ich  I  w i l l  no t  be  

in  a  pos i t ion  to  do  w i thout  hav ing  consu l ted  and taken  

ins t ruc t ions bu t  tha t ’s  no t  on ly  the  po in t .   The po in t  i s  tha t  

the  c l ien t  requ i res  and she needs serv i ces  o f  Sen ior  

Counse l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  those your  submiss ions?  20 

ADV NXASANA:    Those are  my submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see w i th  regard  to  the  quest ion  o f  

whethe r  she had  good grounds not  to  f i le  her  a f f idav i t  o r  

a f f idav i t s  w i th in  t he  t imef rame s t ipu la ted  in  the  D i rec t i ve  o f  

Ju l y  24 ,  tha t  I  can dec ide  la te r,  I  don ’ t  th ink  I  need to  
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dec ide  tha t  now.   Wi th  regard  to  the  app l i ca t ion  and w i th  

regard  to  the  a f f idav i t s ,  she herse l f  has sa id  tha t  she has  

ac tua l l y,  in  her  a f f idav i t  tha t  she  f i led  in  response to  Mr  

Botes ,  she has sa id  tha t  she has pu t  in  he r  vers ion .   I t  

m igh t  no t  be  as  fu l l  as  she might  have w ished but  she has 

sa id  tha t  she has  pu t  in  her  vers ion ,  i t ’s  no t  t rue  tha t  she 

has no t  pu t  up  her  vers ion  and tha t ’s  the  g i s t  o f  what  she  

was say ing .   We are  work ing  under  ser ious s t ra ins  in  te rms  

o f  an  Order  o f  Cour t  to  make su re  we work  w i th in  a  cer ta in  

t ime and she has  had enough t ime  to  rea l l y  ob ta in  counse l  10 

who wou ld  be  ready to  p roceed today,  as  I  see i t  bu t  a lso ,  

a l though one accepts  tha t ,  even a  Judge does need lega l  

rep resenta t ion  in  a  case,  in  cer ta in  p laces one can ’ t  fo rge t  

the  fac t  tha t  she is  a  Judge,  she i s  lega l l y  t ra ined and a lso  

in  the  end,  a l so  the  fac t  tha t ,  rea l l y  the  mat te rs  tha t  w i l l  be 

dea l t  w i th  be  ve ry  fac tua l ,  we are  –  the  Commiss ion  is  

schedu led  fo r  a  number  o f  w i tnesses fo r  qu i te  some t ime 

and the re  are  many more  peop le  who are  supposed to  

tes t i f y  and we los t  a  day on  the  24 t h ,  we sh i f ted  o ther  

w i tnesses fo r  today in  o rder  to  s i t .   So ,  I ’m go ing  to  20 

d ismiss  the  app l i ca t ion  bu t  I  w i l l  g ive  reasons in  due  

course .   The app l i ca t ion  is  d i smissed.  

ADV NXASANA:    Thank you Cha i r,  jus t  fo r  c la r i t y,  the 

app l i ca t ion  tha t  i s  d ismissed is  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  

postponement .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  the  app l i ca t ion  fo r  a  postponement  

i s  d ismissed and I  sa id  the  issue o f  whether  she has  

compl ied  –  she  had good cause to  comply  w i th  the  

D i rec t i ve  in  te rms o f  f i l i ng  an  a f f idav i t  by  Wednesday las t  

week,  tha t  can be dec ided –  I  can dec ide  tha t  la te r  on .   

Remember  the  D i rec t i ve  had two dates ,  one was the  f i l i ng 

o f  the  a f f idav i t s ,  on  Wednesday and the  o ther  was  fo r  her  

to  appear  today and she has appeared.  

ADV NXASANA:    Yes Cha i r.   Cha i r  there  i s  an  app l i ca t ion  

be fore  you,  Cha i r…[ in tervenes] .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  wh ich  one?  

ADV NXASANA:    The one tha t  –  in  te rms o f  Ru le  11  sub-

sect ion  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t ’s  an  app l i ca t i on  fo r  what?  

ADV NXASANA:    I t  se ts  ou t ,  there  in  the  Not ice  o f  Mot ion ,  

tha t  1 )  i s  the  grant ing  condonat ion  fo r  non-compl iance w i th  

the  t ime s t ra ins  i n  te rm o f   serv i ce ,  2 )  recons idera t ion  in  

resc i ss ion  o f  the  D i rec t i ves  o f  24  Ju ly  2020 a l te rna t ive l y  

subst i tu t ion  o f  the  t ime per iods  ind ica ted  in  the  sa id  

D i rec t i ve .   3 )  Set t ing  as ide  and/or  w i thdrawing the  20 

regu la t ion  10  sub-sect ion  6  subpoena se rved on the  

app l i cant  on  28  Ju ly  2020. . . [ in te rvenes] .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  le t ’s  take  them one by  one le t ’s  

leave out  1  fo r  now,  recons idera t i on  and resc i ss ion  o f  the 

D i rec t i ves  o f  24  Ju l y  2020 or  a l te rna t ive ly  subst i tu t ion  o f  
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the  t ime per iods  ind ica ted  in  the  sa id  D i rec t i ves .   The 

D i rec t i ve  was about  two th ings,  1 ) ,  her  f i l i ng  an  a f f idav i t  o r  

a f f idav i t s  by  Wednesday las t  week,  2 )  appear ing  today.   

She has appeared today so  tha t  fa l l s  away,  the re ’s  –  tha t  

fa l l s  away,  she d id  no t  f i l e  an  a f f idav i t  on  the  29 t h  and she 

is  ask ing  us  to  –  fo r  a  recons ide ra t ion  o f  tha t  to  the  ex ten t  

tha t  she may be ask ing  fo r  more  t ime to  f i le  a f f idav i t s ,  1 )  

She has sa id  tha t  she has f i led  an  a f f idav i t ,  she has  pu t  up 

a  vers ion  i t ’s  no t  t rue  tha t  she has no t  pu t  up  a  ve rs ion ,  i t  

m igh t  no t  be  as  fu l l  as  she wanted   bu t  even w i thou t  tha t  I  10 

wou ld  no t  do  tha t  –  I  wou ld  no t  d i rec t  tha t  she does  tha t  on 

another  da te  i f  tha t  was to  requ i re  a  postponement  o f  the 

mat te r  because the  mat te rs  can be dea l t  w i th ,  w i thout  any 

fu r ther  a f f idav i t s  bu t  i f  she  chooses,  apar t  f rom,  I  add i t ion  

to  hav ing  g i ven o ra l  ev idence tha t ,  fo r  cer ta in  reasons she  

wou ld  l i ke  to  f i le  a f f idav i t s ,  tha t  m ight  be  a  separa te  i ssue 

then 3 )  i s  about  se t t ing  as ide  or  w i thd rawing  10(6 )  

D i rec t i ve  tha t ’s  what  we have ta lked about   and then 

grant ing  the  app l i cant  su f f i c ien t  t ime to  consu l t  w i th  her  

lega l  team,  tha t ’s  what  I ’ ve  ind i ca ted ,  I  don ’ t  th ink  tha t  20 

there  i s  good cause tha t  has  been shown and then w i th  

regard  to  5 ) ,  the  t ranscr ip ts ,  Mr  Son i  says,  the  p rev ious 

a t to rneys were  to ld  on  the  23 r d ,  they  were  g iven the  l ink  in  

o rder  to  be  ab le  to  access the  t ransc r ip ts  techno log ica l l y.  

ADV NXASANA:    Cha i r,  jus t  on  tha t  po in t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV NXASANA:    My ins t ruc t ion  Cha i r,  a re  tha t ,  tha t  l ink  

was never  p rov ided to  c l ien t  and she has never  seen the  

…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  tha t  m ight  be  –  tha t  m ight  have 

to  be  dea l t  w i th  bu t  my reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  the  ev idence  

tha t  was g iven is  substant ia l l y  the  same as the  ev idence 

tha t  was in  the  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  she has had –  so  I  wasn ’ t  

go ing  to  postpone the  proceed ings in  o rder  fo r  he r  to  ge t  

the  t ranscr ip ts  f i rs t  because,  as  I  say,  even i f  the  l ink  10 

wasn ’ t  even –  the  ora l  ev idence was substant ia l l y  a long 

the  l ines  o f  the  a f f idav i t s .   6 )  The resu l ts  o f  the  ana lys i s  o f  

the  invest iga t ions conducted by  the  fo rens ic ,  I ’m  sure  tha t  

can be ar ranged  fo r  her  to  ge t  tha t ,  Mr  Son i  d id  no t  

address tha t ,  d i rec t ing  the  lega l  team to  prov ide  a l l  the  ce l l  

phone reco rds bo th  –  bu t  a lso  th is  i s  a l l  coming  on the  

morn ing  o f  the  hear ing ,  I  mean ve ry  la te .   8 )  D i rec t ing  and 

compel l ing  the  Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team and invest iga tors ,  

ass is t ing  the  Commiss ion  in  the  PRASA hear ing  to  d isc lose  

the i r  p ro fess iona l  in te res t  in  PRASA,  ja .   I  th ink  i f  she  20 

needs to  f i le  a  compla in t  she must  f i l e  a  compla in t .   No we  

are  p roceed ing .  

ADV NXASANA:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.  

ADV NXASANA:    Jus t  one more  th ing  f rom my s ide  Cha i r,  
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I  unders tand tha t  the  c l ien t  has made ment ion  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  she  f i led  in  the  compla in t  aga ins t  Advocate  

Botes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV NXASANA:    And tha t  she sa id  she dea l t  there in  w i th  

her  ev idence not  substant ia l l y  as  she wou ld  have  l i ked .   

Cha i r  I  have not  seen tha t  a f f idav i t  e i ther,  those are  the  

const ra in ts…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    She shou ld  have g iven you tha t  a f f idav i t .  

ADV NXASANA:    Those  are  the  const ra in ts  10 

tha t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    We got  i t  f rom her,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  I  

may  be  mis taken  but  we have had i t  fo r  qu i te  some t ime  

and I  th ink  she –  I  th ink  tha t  was end o f  June i f  I ’m  not  

m is taken.   Wel l  there  a re  two  opt ions now tha t  I ’ ve 

d ismissed the  app l i ca t ion .   One is  whether  I  shou ld  g ive  –  

we l l  I  don ’ t  know whether  your  pos i t ion  wou ld  be  tha t  you  

are  go ing  to  w i thdraw in  the  l igh t  o f  the  d i smissa l  o f  the  

app l i ca t ion  o r  whether  you are  go ing  to  seek to  have some 

t ime to  consu l t  w i th  her  and tha t  we –  I  g ive  you some t ime 20 

before  we resume to  consu l t  w i th  her  and then we  resume 

a t  a  cer ta in  t ime and then we dea l  w i th  her  ev idence .  

ADV NXASANA:    May I  approach Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .   Wel l  Mr Nxasana I  cannot si t  

here and… 
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ADV NXASANA:   Chair  thank you.   I  understand that  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   Chair  perhaps just  one issue Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV NXASANA:   Cl ient  she is rais ing one issue.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV NXASANA:   I f  Chair  can clar i ty that? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    Yes Judge Makhubele.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chai rperson I  have noted you read the 

prayers up to a certain prayer.   Yes I  understand wi th the 10 

PRASA General  Declarat ion of  Interest  I  have an onus to 

provide evidence which I  wi l l  in t ime.  But  there is a  prayer 

speci f ical ly seeking the recusal  of  Advocate Vas Soni  SC.   

There is a prayer  there Chai rperson and i f  you dismiss my 

appl icat ion in general  you – you… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l… 

MS MAKHUBELE:   The aff idavi t  – my aff idavi t  deals wi th 

Advocate Soni  is the reason why I  pu l led out  of  the 

consul tat ion wi th the legal  team and you cannot expect  me 

today to be led by him without  you f i rst  hear ing me – my 20 

reasons why I  say he should not  be leading me in evidence.   

You can cal l  any person in the legal  team to lead me but  not  

Advocate Soni .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chai rperson he – Advocate Soni  in th is  
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aff idavi t  I  have said on the 24 July he is standing there he 

told some unt ruth about me. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  have submit ted evidence.   Chai rperson 

cannot simply dismiss me l ike that  wi thout  even ment ion ing 

on the record what I  have said and speci f ica l ly dismiss that  

prayer that  Judge Makhubele is ta lk ing coherences.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you remember… 

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  need a rul ing whether… 

CHAIRPERSON:   You remember – you remember I  said I  was 10 

going to  adjourn to – and when we come back I  wi l l  g ive you 

an opportuni ty to say whatever you might  not  have sa id.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us go to – to that  part  of  your aff idavi t .  

MS MAKHUBELE:   My part  of  the aff idavi t  where I  deal  

speci f ical ly wi th  Advocate Soni  because Chai rperson 

remember you asked – you said I  make mysel f  avai lable to  

consul t  wi th the legal  team.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Which is t rue.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   And then the object ions that  I  had 

wi thdrawn maybe for the record at  that  t ime was and bel ieve 

f rom my perspect ive made sense a l though there was never a 

ru l ing but  I  thought we could move along.   But  when I  met  
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Advocate Soni  I  deal  wi th i t  in the aff idavi t  maybe f rom page 

23 f rom paragraph 51.   I  detai l  how I  met them. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   And what broke down the relat ionship.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   I f  that  re lat ionship did not  break down, 

we would not  be here today Chai rperson.   I  was happy to 

provide an aff idavi t  to the legal  team but  he is the reason I  

pul led out .   And Chairperson has already made adverse 

remarks about my pul l ing out  of  that  consul tat ion.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   So i t  is important  Chai rperson that  th is  

issue be addressed and I  request  t ime to br ief  my at torney 

properly to present  th is appl icat ion al ternat ively… 

CHAIRPERSON:   The recusal  appl icat ion? 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  Al ternat ively,  you al low me to move 

i t  which you effect ively denying legal  representat ion i f  I  have 

present  th is appl icat ion mysel f .   This must  be presented 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l… 20 

MS MAKHUBELE:   I f  you say I  must  proceed today the 

quest ion is who wi l l  be leading me?  I  can never s i t  here and 

have a conversat ion wi th you.   I  have no problem but  I  am 

not  going to al low Advocate Soni .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The recusal  appl icat ion i t  is a recusal  
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appl icat ion i t  is not  an appl icat ion for the postponement of  

the hearing of  your  ev idence.   Those are two di fferent  

matters.   And you remember that  I  kept  on saying I  want to  

know exact ly which appl icat ion – or which issue is being 

moved.  You want  an opportuni ty  to  ta lk to your  at torney and 

br ief  h im about the recusal  appl icat ion? 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Wel l  I  do not  know Chairperson you have 

al ready ruled on some parts of  the – my Not ice of  Mot ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  – the postponement I  have dismissed the 

postponement appl icat ion.  10 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Yes but  then Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The recusal  appl icat ion.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chairperson there is a lot  that  was said 

about me on the 24 July.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   You would recal l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   And then the point  that  I  am taking is the 

person making those remarks was not  te l l ing the t ruth.   I  

gave you evidence that  when Advocate Soni  stood there he 20 

said something that  I  – I  d id not  re turn h is cal ls.   I  am this,  

th is and that  and I  deal  wi th i t  and I  a lso deal  wi th his 

conduct  when they have consul ted wi th me that  looking at  

how he deal t  wi th me in that  part icular consul tat ion I  

immediately pul led out  Chai rperson and I  bel ieve the 



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 64 of 108 
 

appl icat ion that  I  have made must be entertained.   You can 

dismiss i t  but  af ter giv ing me an opportuni ty.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   You cannot simply dismiss everything 

that  I  am making here Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no.   I  remember I  said I  want to  – f rom 

the beginning I  said I  want to know exact ly what we are 

deal ing wi th and so far,  I  was told the postponement 

appl icat ion.   No ment ion was made of  a recusal  appl icat ion.   

Now Mr Soni  what do you say about the recusal  appl icat ion 10 

in terms of  how we move forward?  Let  me hear that? 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chairperson before you g ive him an 

opportuni ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  s i t  here.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  – before they come here,  they prepare 

their  work.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Before I  go to court ,  I  prepare my work.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   But  I  managed – I  d id not  s leep.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  wrote th is aff idavi t  af ter do ing my 

oppose mot ion.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   They have had this aff idavi t  s ince – since 

when – Thursday morning.   Today i t  is Monday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  … 

MS MAKHUBELE:   I  do not  th ink i t  is ….  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l… 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chair  i t  is proper  for … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Judge Makhubele.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   For Advocate Soni  to respond to my 

aff idavi t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  no.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   He must f i le an aff idavi t  about  the move.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   No,  no,  no you have not  – you have not  

heard what I  say.   I  want  to hear what Mr Soni  has to say 

about the recusal  appl icat ion not  the substant ive part  

because you – your counsel  has not  – test  i t .  

MS MAKHUBELE:   But  a judge has f i led an aff idavi t  under 

oath.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Why can he not  f i le an aff idavi t  under 20 

oath? 

CHAIRPERSON:   No but  Judge Makhubele please wai t .  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  need to hear h im as wel l .   Ms Nxasana 

take a seat  and let  me hear Mr Soni .   Just  put  on your 
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microphone Mr Soni .  

ADV SONI SC:   Chairperson of  course I  stand here in a 

rather invidious posi t ion.   Fortunately,  though Chai rperson 

there are two issues that  are involved in everyth ing that  

Judge Makhubele and Mr Nxasana has said.    

F i rst  is;  what is my role in th is commission?  I  do not  

play any role in making any decis ions.   My role is  to lead 

evidence and to chal lenge evidence.   What comes of  that  

evidence Chai rperson is in your hands.    

The second issue Chai rperson is that  i t  cannot be for  10 

a wi tness to say to the commission that  i t  may not  – the 

commission may not  al low one of  i ts members unless there 

are good reasons not  to part ic ipate in part icular 

proceedings.   As I  understand i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Where is her aff idavi t  that  has got  th is of  

Thursday?   

ADV SONI SC:   I f  I  recal l  appl icat ion by Judge Makhubele 

for amendment of  the regulat ions.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  – just  read the – just  remind me of  the 

re levant  parts of  that  – in the aff idavi t?  20 

ADV SONI SC:   Chairperson at  paragraph 52 this is where 

Judge Makhubele starts.   She met Ms Mangata [?]  and 

mysel f  and then we had a forensic invest igator and then she 

says:  

“At  the beginning of  the meet ing”  
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This is at  paragraph 54.  

“The commission’s team seemed to appreciate my posi t ion in  

the object ions I  ra ised.   I  say so because in respect  of  

forensic analysis  WhatsApp and messages they made a 

concession that  there would be no need to do an imaging of  

my phone.  Then we agreed that  I  should emai l  to Ms 

Mangata [?]  copies of  al l  the annexure. ”  

That  is at  paragraph 65.   Paragragh 56.  

“The meet ing progressed into or  rather degenerated into a 

session of  accusator ia l  exchanges wi th Advocate Soni  who 10 

seemed to take a prosecutor ia l  posture l ike despi te an 

ear l ier acknowledgement by the commission that  my matter  

was before the JSC and the JCC and that  in essence the 

test imony required – requi red f rom me related to  issues 

before those forums.   

I t  became a very lengthy and t i resome engagement 

which dist ressed me and completely made me change my 

ini t ia l  v iew when I  offered to consul t  wi th the team.  His 

behaviour actual ly conf i rmed my apprehension about the 

object iv i ty of  the legal  team and invest igators.    20 

Advocate Soni  at tempted to act  as a pol ice off icer,  

prosecutor and judicial  off icer.   I  do not  be l ieve that  th is is  

the role  of  the legal  team when they take statements.   Over 

and over again Advocate Soni  made i t  c lear that  he was 

going to cross-examine me on things that  he did not  bel ieve 
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that  I  was tel l ing the t ruth.   He actual ly sat  wi th me as an 

agent of  the wi tnesses that  accused me of  wrongdoings at  

PRASA part icu lar ly Ms Ngoye,  Mr Dingiswayo and Mr 

Mkhatshwa.   

Also,  to ment ion that  dur ing our te lephone 

conversat ions Advocate Soni  had informed me that  Mr Agmat  

would not  be test i fy ing.”  

Then at  paragraph 60.  

“What broke my pat ience and tolerance of  the consul tat ion 

was the at tempt  by Advocate Soni  whi le Ms Mangata[?]  10 

remained si lent  suppress my evidence which I  bel ieve wi l l  

contradict  the al legat ions of  the wi tnesses.  I  would refer to a 

few examples wi thout  reveal ing what my answer is  at  th is  

stage.  

1.  The issue of  the author i ty of  the Chai rperson of  the 

board to intervene as I  d id.  

b.  The delegat ion of  author i ty f rom the board.  

c.  My f i rst  interact ion wi th Ms Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo.  

4.  Content ions – content ious issues that  the board raised 

wi th the legal  un i t  headed by Ms Ngoye.  20 

5.  My interact ions wi th the employees of  PRASA who 

test i f ied at  the insolvency inqui ry.  

Al l  these matters and many more are recorded in my 

notebook which I  showed Advocate Soni  and Ms Mangate [?] .   

I  to ld Advocate Soni  and Ms Mangate[?]  that  I  intended to 



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 69 of 108 
 

t ranscr ibe the notes because some of  the issues const i tute 

my defence and some saw wrongdoings on par.   

Whenever I  ra ised an issue that  is  favourable to me 

Advocate Soni  would rudely te l l  me that  I  should concentrate 

on the al legat ions that  I  pushed a pushed a set t lement plan.   

This is when I  asked Advocate Soni  about  the expense of  the 

commission’s invest igat ions in these PRASA hearings.    

I  then learned for  the f i rst  t ime that  the reason that  I  

am before the commission is because Ms Ngoye and Mr 

Dingiswayo had la id a complaint  against  me.  Why does th is 10 

shock me?  I  was of  the view that  the commission was 

invest igat ing maladminist rat ion,  i r regular i t ies and var ious 

breaches of  government ’s pol ic ies at  state ent i t ies and that  

the issues that  I  have been cal led to answer to is a resul t  of  

that  informat ion.    

I  have informat ion relat ing to i r regular i t ies commit ted 

by some of  the complainants as Advocate Soni  re fers to 

them.  I  would simultaneously put  my responding sworn 

statements provide these detai ls.    

Advocate Soni  became very – ext remely agi tated 20 

about my responses then extended some stage he raised his 

voice and ut tered the words ‘wi th respect  Judge focus on 

what you have done. ’   

In short  we did not  agree on the approach and what  

should be in my responding sworn statement he then became 
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extremely f rust rated and pacing up and down tel l ing me in  

angry and int imidat ing way that  we should forget  about  a 

wri t ten statement and that  he was going to simply cross-

examine me when I  made an appearance at  the commission.   

Consul tat ion started a theme.   

I  thought i t  would have f in ished by two.   I  requested 

to be excused because we were not  get t ing anywhere and 

Advocate Soni  kept  on badgering me with haphazard 

quest ion on everything and f rant ical ly taking my answers.    

At  some point  he chal lenged me to f i le a statement 10 

and impl icate someone whose name appears in one of  the 

memoranda that  I  have wri t ten at  PRASA.  I  do not  know 

what kind of  an invest igat ion this is but  c lear ly there is  

something wrong.    

The commission has been in possession of  al l  the 

informat ion relat ing to the issues that  informed the issuance 

of  the Rule 3 Not ices against  me, the aff idavi t  of  Ms Ngoye 

forms the basis of  al l  a l legat ions against  me has been in 

existence since 2018.   

According to me the role of  the invest igators is to 20 

conduct  further enquires on issues ar is ing f rom any aff idavi t .   

I t  does not  requi re me to impl icate anyone. The word 

impl icate in the commission is used in cr iminal  law sense.    

I  lef t  the interview af ter about  s ix hours of  being 

interrogated and in my view being personal ly bel i t t led and i l l -
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t reated despi te the very honourable off ice I  occupy and 

despi te the process – protests I  made.   

When I  lef t  the boardroom, I  informed Advocate Soni  

that  I  was going to compi le documents wi th a statement and 

was going to make one of  those – and that  one of  those was 

the author i ty of  the board.   I  ear l ier informed him that  the 

board had made certain decisions wi th regard to the 

al legat ions that  Ms Ngoye and Mr Dingiswayo are making 

and that  I  deem i t  re levant  that  such informat ion should be – 

should be brought before the commission.    10 

Surpr is ingly he to ld me he was not  going to pursue 

the issue of  author i ty and that  the – and then that  – I  th ink 

he was going to – I  was making accusat ions against  him.  

Yes my part ing wi th Advocate Soni  was on a sour and bi t ter  

note. ”  

That  is the extent  of  the al legat ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Natural ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   What – what are your submissions 

on the way forward on the recusal  appl icat ion? 20 

ADV SONI SC:   Chairperson again the quest ion is,  what is  

my role?   

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV SONI SC:   There are two issues that  ordinar i ly present 

themselves when a wi tness comes before the commission.  
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 One is the leading of  evidence and the other is to  

look at  evidence that  has been presented by other 

wi tnesses.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV SONI SC:   Now I  have no in tent ion of  leading Judge 

Makhubele because I  do not  have a statement.   I  s imply 

cannot lead her.   I  have no object ion to Mr Nxasana leading 

her on whatever he wants.    

What I  am requi red to do and that  is my duty is to put  

to Judge Makhubele what the wi tnesses have sa id to the 10 

extent  that  they impl icate her.   For  the purposes of  th is  

commission and to consider or to present  to you or to 

chal lenge the correctness or otherwise of  the ev idence or  to  

accept  that  i t  may wel l  be that  that  is consistent  wi th the 

probabi l i t ies.   That  is my only role .   I  do not  have any other  

ro le Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   

ADV SONI SC:   And so the quest ion of  a recusal  of 

somebody who is asking quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  20 

ADV SONI SC:   Chairperson cannot ar ise in a si tuat ion l ike 

this.   This is an inquisi tor ia l  commission Chai rperson.   Of  

course,  Judge Makhubele has r ights,  he has the r ight  to a 

legal  representat ive who is here to protect  her but  on the 

other hand Chairperson i t  is part  of  my duty and Chairperson 
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we do have aff idavi ts f rom people.    

We have documents to suggest  to  you where the t ruth 

probably l ies.   That  is al l  my role is  and that  is the ro le that  I  

intend ful f i l l ing and unless there is some basis to say that  I  

am incapable of  –  of  fu l f i l l ing that  role Chai rperson I  must  be 

al lowed to cont inue.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  – okay thank you Mr Soni .   Mr Nxasana.  

Just  wai t  for the sani t isat ion of  the stand before you go there 

Mr Nxasana somebody wi l l  come there and sani t ise.   Mr 

Nxasana have you got  any author i t ies that  you can refer me 10 

to that  deal  wi th a recusal  of  an evidence leader in th is type 

of  s i tuat ion or anybody that  can be compared to an evidence 

leader? 

ADV NXASANA:   Not  at  hand Chai r  I  do not  have.   I  cannot  

th ink of  any now.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Wel l  the Judge might  be aware.  

Judge Makhubele are you aware of  any author i t ies that  one 

can look at? 

MS MAKHUBELE:   Wel l  Chai rperson I  l istened to Advocate 

Soni  and I  want the record to note that  he has not  denied 20 

any of  the factual  averments I  have made.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   So now the only issue wi l l  be to deal  wi th 

the legal  basis.   I f  you can al low us an opportuni ty to go 

and… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   And have a look.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   And have a look at  th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   So – but  –  and I  feel  very dist ressed and 

embarrassed when my at torney a very experienced person 

keeps on coming there because he has not  even read this  

aff idavi t .   Now he must… 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  you should have given i t  to him.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Chai rperson he – he – he said I  – th is  

aff idavi t  I  f i led th is – on Fr iday – Thursday morning.   Even 10 

your team has not  responded to this  aff idavi t .   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no but  the commission’s legal  team is  

not  asking for  an opportuni ty  to respond to i t .   So you – you 

are wi thin your r ight  to say Mr Soni  has not  sa id anything to  

deny what he said there.  

MS MAKHUBELE:   Yes then I  – then I  consul ted.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  he has not  asked for  an opportuni ty to 

do anyth ing about i t  by way of  an aff idavi t .   So – so I  am 

qui te  prepared to  stand down the matter so that  maybe you 

can go obtain author i t ies and Mr Soni  you could look at  20 

author i t ies simply on the quest ion of  whether a recusal  

appl icat ion in  th is  si tuat ion relat ing to an evidence leader is  

appl icable.   Even i f  i t  is not  the evidence leader in a 

commission any simi lar posi t ion – any person occupying a 

posi t ion that  may be compared to an evidence leader.    
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We are at  quarter  to one.   I  th ink I  wi l l  adjourn unt i l  

three to – to – so that  I  can hear is  there are any author i t ies 

on that  legal  po int .   Okay we are going to adjourn then – let  

us do that  and then we resume at  three o’clock.    

MS MAKHUBELE:   Thank you Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

ADV SONI SC:   . . .a l l  has been a sort  of  prosecutor ia l  round.   

This is the evidence leader.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m? 

ADV SONI SC:   But  the bet ter v iew, I  am told,  is  that  we do 

not  play that  role.   We are,  in fact ,  legal  pract i t ioners 

represent ing a part icular c l ient ,  in other words,  the 

Commission.    

 And the test  in that  case Chai rperson is;  f i rst ly,  you 

cannot have a recusal  of  somebody who is  not  a 

decisionmaker.   You can ask for  the wi thdrawal of  the person 

but  not  the recusal .  

 The second learn ing that  comes f rom the Commission’s 20 

research on this is,  as far  as legal  pract i t ioners go,  there are 

two broad grounds on which one can ask for the wi thdrawal.  

 One is on account of  conf ident ia l i ty.   They possess 

conf ident ia l  informat ion.   And the second is that  the 

evidence or thei r  role wi l l  not  be a role  performed in good 
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fa i th.  

 I  am also told Chairperson that  as far as -  and I  say I  am 

told because i t  is been researched.  I t  was done by the 

Commission’s off ice,  that  as far  as these matters are 

concerned,  i t  is common for there to be disagreements 

dur ing consul tat ions and that  cannot be a disqual i fy ing 

factor.  

 And the overr id ing quest ion,  real ly,  is one of  these.   I t  is 

fa i rness to the Commission.   I t  is fa i rness obviously,  to 

somebody l ike a wi tness.  So that  is the one set  of  10 

ci rcumstances.  

 The other Chai rperson is,  where one is given a 

prosecutor ia l  ro le .   The test  there is,  the const i tut ion says 

the prosecutor must  be an independent person but  that  is  

taken at  a d i fferent  level  of  independence.  

 Al l  that  they get  to ensure is that  an in just ice is  not  

done.   They cannot,  for example,  hide informat ion and things 

l ike that .   There are three cases that  I  would l ike to refer you 

to Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  wi l l  te l l  you what I  propose we do at  a  20 

pract ical  level .   I  th ink what we should do is,  one,  that  I  do 

not  make a decision on this “ recusal  appl icat ion” now today.    

 I  f ix a date this  week by when the appl icant  in the 

“recusal  appl icat ion” should f i le wr i t ten submissions.   And i t  

is a  date by when the Commission’s legal  team must  f i le 
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their  wr i t ten submissions and I  make a decision on i t  at  a 

later stage.  

 But  also,  there is a possibi l i ty i f  I  deem i t  f i t ,  I  may 

decide to  deal  wi th the matter at  a pract ical  level  in which 

case,  i f  I  deal  wi th i t  at  a pract ical  level ,  what I  have in mind 

is,  i f  there is  somebody who wi l l  be avai lab le to  take over  

f rom you in regard to th is wi tness then I  might  not  need to 

decide whether the appl icat ion is a good.. .  has good grounds 

or  not  because that  would mean that  Judge Makhubele ’s  

concern fal ls away.    10 

 Another approach might  be to  decide the appl icat ion,  

okay.   But  in the meant ime, what I  have in mind is that  we 

could proceed today but  you would not  lead Judge 

Makhubele’s evidence.   You would not  quest ion her today.    

 I  wi l l  g ive her a chance to put  her side of  the story and 

then I  would have quest ions for her and because we are 

start ing at  the t ime that  we are star t ing,  we. . .  I  do not  th ink 

we wi l l  f in ish anyway.    

 Then we wi l l  adjourn to another date in order to f in ish.   

I f  on that  date you -  I  have decided that  you should cont inue 20 

and lead evidence and quest ion her,  then that  is what would 

happen.   

 I f  I  decided that  that  should not  happen, then i t  should 

be somebody else.   I f  I  have decided that  for pract ical  

purposes and reasons,  we wi l l  just  have somebody else.    
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 Then Judge Makhubele ’s concern wi l l  fa l l  away.   So that  

is what I  have in  mind.   You have something to say about  

that?  

ADV SONI SC:   Chairperson,  I  have nothing to say save this 

that  i t  wi l l  ensure that  the ent i re day is not  wasted.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m-h’m-h’m.  Ja,  that  is  part  of  the 

considerat ion.  

ADV SONI SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Where we use whatever t ime we have 

today.   Thank you.    10 

ADV SONI SC:   And then in a sense Chai rperson,  i t  wi l l   

address Judge Makhubele’s quest ion because as I  

understood my learned f r iend,  she does not  want me to lead 

her.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV SONI SC:   And so that  concern fa l ls away.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes,  yes.   Mr Nxasana, let  me hear 

what you have to say to th is proposed way forward.  

ADV NXASANA:   Chai r,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV NXASANA:   Chai r,  I  th ink that  leaves me with a 

decision to make but  I  th ink I  have,  wi th the leave of  the 

Chairperson,  have to consul t  the c l ient  f i rst  and then 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  do you want to . . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV NXASANA:   Because I  do not  know what  kind of  

evidence or test imony . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  okay.   You want to ta lk to her whi le I ’m 

here.  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.   Chai r,  thank you,  once again.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NXASANA:   Chai r,  i t  would seem that  Chai r,  therefore,  

that  my role wi l l  end here because I  wi l l  just  be a – I  won’ t  

be part  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   A spectator.  10 

ADV NXASANA:   I  w i l l  be a spectator.   There is nothing that 

I  meaningfu l ly contr ibute in the proceedings.   And 

unfortunately,  Judge Makhubele wi l l  a lso,  again,  be lef t  

wi thout  legal  representat ion and she wi l l  have to proceed on 

her own.   

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

ADV NXASANA:   Yes.   In the ci rcumstances Chai rperson,  I  

am reluctant ly wi thdrawing as at torney on record.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  okay.   No,  thank you Mr Nxasana.  

ADV NXASANA:   Thank you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Judge Makhubele,  Mr Nxasana 

has not  been able to say anything about  the proposed way 

forward because he is wi thdrawing.   Are you able to say 

anything about i t?   I  accept ,  of  course,  that  i t  means that  you 

are wi thout  legal  representat ion.   That  I  accept .   That  is the 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Wel l ,  i f  that  is the posi t ion where 

Chair  wants to put  me, there is nothing I  can do but  I  can. . .  I  

wi l l  have to address on you that ,  that  my best  e fforts  to  

exercise my const i tut ional  r ights are being . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Are being undermined Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   You have not  made a rul ing.   You 

have made proposals but  none of  those proposals,  obviously,  10 

would have sui ted my at torney because he would have to si t  

here and. . .   

 The regulat ions say he must  assist  me act ive and unless 

I  am reading the wrong legislat ion.   So for me to pay an 

at torney. . .  you can imagine what his fees are.   To come and 

si t  here and just . . .  i t  is not  fa i r  Chai rperson.   I  must  say.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I f  I  have enough t ime, I  can and. . .  

and then again,  i t  wi l l  be whether  there is anything legal ly 

that  renders me to be someone who is not  ent i t led to legal  20 

representat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  you . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I f  the fact  that  I  am a judge is a 

reason,  then Chai rperson make a decision.   Then I  wi l l  deal  

wi th i t  but  as of  now I  am exposed.  I  came here wi th an 



03 AUGUST 2020 – DAY 243 
 

Page 81 of 108 
 

at torney wi th the best  interest  and throughout the day we.. .  

everything wi l l  say and I  must  repeat  what I  have stated in  

my aff idavi t .    

 My let ter. . .  in the history of  the Commission,  there is no 

matter that  as simple explanat ion or anything as dramat ic  

wi l l  last  the whole day Chai rperson but  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.   Just  repeat  that  last  point .   I  

d id not  hear i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   What I  am saying,  even on the 24t h,  

my matter lasted the whole day because my at torneys could 10 

not  reach you Chai rperson because they have not  consul ted 

wi th me.   

 Even today,  the same with Mr Nxasana.  And I  am 

saying,  I  watch the proceedings of  the Commission.   There is  

not  one matter that  last  one day,  the whole day.    

 But  I  accept  Chairperson,  whatever rul ing you make, I  

am under your hands.   I  wi l l  s imply request  t ime to adjourn 

and consider my opt ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  Wel l ,  as I  say that  I  accept  that  my 

decision to dismiss the postponement appl icat ion meant that  20 

subject  to the “ recusal” ,  the so-cal led “ recusal  appl icat ion”  

that  was then moved, that  may have to be decide at  some 

stage.  

 But  I  th ink the way forward which I  have come up wi th  

takes care of  your concern when you say because of  
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certain. . .  part icular ly what happened on the 9t h of  July when 

you had a consul tat ion wi th  Advocate Soni .    

 You have an object ion to h im being the person leading 

you and quest ion ing you.   And I  have said that  argument 

decide later i f  need be.  

 But  we can use part  of  the day today for you to te l l  me 

your side of  the story and I  wi l l  ask some quest ions and we 

do not . . .  we probably wi l l  not  f in ish but  we wi l l  have used 

part  of  the today.  

 We wi l l  adjourn to another day.   Actual ly,  I  do have a 10 

possible date in mind but  we might  have to start  at  two 

because there are other wi tnesses in the morning on the 

17t h of  August  which is a Monday and i t  wi l l  go beyond four  

o’clock i f  necessary,  to t ry and f in ish.  

 So I  am just  ment ioning to you what is in my mind,  that  

we might  do i t  that  way.   And in the meant ime, both yoursel f  

or your counsel  can f i le wri t ten submissions on the “recusal”  

point  and the legal  team can f i le the ir  wr i t ten submissions.  

 And of  course,  I  accept  that  because you are a judge,  

you may be having matters that  have been al located for you 20 

for that  part icular day.  

 So i f  any adjournment is made to a speci f ic date,  i t  

would have to be subject  to the Commission consul t ing wi th 

the judge president  that  on that  day you can be released.  

 He has previously said that  i f  he. . .  or  previously he had 
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said i f  he got  at  least  two days’ not ice,  he would be able to 

make a plan.    

 So i f  we adjourn to that  date today,  that  g ives about two 

weeks’ not ice.   My expectat ion is that  he wi l l  be able to  

re lease you but  i t  can be subject  to that .   Yes? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Chai rperson,  you did not  l isten to my 

appl icat ion in  i ts ent i rety but  you d id i t  p iecemeal but  i f  you 

had you would. . .  I  have provided my duty roster as annexure 

and this week,  JP Mlambo re leased me because I  have 

requested . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no Judge Makhubele . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   No,  I  want  to say that  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  no,  no.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . . I  cannot . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  no.   The JP is the one who 

al locates matters.   He is the one who.. .  or the DJP but  the 

JP has indicated that  the work of  the Commission is  

important  and that  he wi l l  do his best  to release you when 

the Commission needs you.    

 And I  am saying that  i f  I  adjourn the matter to a speci f ic  20 

date,  i t  can be on the understanding that  the Commission 

wi l l  check wi th him and I  do expect  that  he wi l l  do whatever 

he can to make you avai lable.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am not  denying that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  so what is your point? 
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  wanted to te l l  you that  Judge 

Makhubele . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   . . .when I  leave here. . .  because I  

have my duty roster now.  You do not  even to go to. . .  I  have 

my duty roster.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   What I  wanted to tel l  you is,  th is  

week,  as I  s i t  here,  I  have been taken off  a rol l  where I  am 

supposed to. . .  on Wednesday,  we are at tending to a cr iminal  10 

t r ia l  where the accused persons have been wai t ing since 

December for  me to sentence them and i f  I  lose this  week,  i t  

means they wi l l  stay in custody unt i l  maybe December or 

even next  year.  

 So whatever you and JP now decide,  take into account 

my judicial  funct ions,  which at  the end of  the day,  wi l l  be 

held against  me that  I  am late wi th  my judgments,  I  adjourn 

matters for long per iods.    

 So I  am on my own.  So for my best  interest ,  once I  

leave here today,  I  have to go and make an appl icat ion for a  20 

longer leave Chai rperson. 

CHAIRPERSON:   H’m.  Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because th is means,  the f i rs t ,  today,  

tomorrow in court .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  is  prejudicing me where I  cannot 

concent rate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Tomorrow I  am supposed to be in 

court .   When am I  going to read f i les for tomorrow?  I  mean, 

besides the fact  that  we have a lready ta lked about.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And then,  i f  you are saying on the 

17t h,  for instance,  I  must  come here at  two o’clock.   In the 

morning,  I  must  go to court  and for a day before,  I  must  10 

know concentrate on adjudicat ing matters.   I t  wi l l  not  work 

Chairperson.   Let  me . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  he would release you for a day.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Let  me talk  to JP Mhlango and rather  

that  conf l ict  preparat ion for some t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I f  i t  means two months of  work 

because i t  is bear ing on me Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  cannot. . .  I  am not . . .  I  cannot  20 

mult i task.   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  no.   That  is f ine.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So let  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   [ laughs]  I  wi l l  te l l  you what we do.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am saying that ,  you know 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  what we can do . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  do not  want to set  you and JP 

Mhlango or some col l is ion caused.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   But  then there is me, then there are,  

besides the l i t igators,  and they have the r ight  to have the ir  

the judgments del iver at  t ime.  Last  week,  I  was si t t ing in  the 

opposed mot ions.   I  have picked up some judgments.    

 Now, i f  I  must . . .  now and again matter is stopped here.   10 

Then those judgments wi l l . . .  and you wi l l  be the f i rst ,  I  mean,  

as head of  the second in command where you wi l l  check that  

these things. . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   This Judge Makhubele hands 

CHAIRPERSON:   Is not  giv ing judgments t imeously.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   [ laughs]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So can we.. .  can I  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  th is is  what I  am suggest ing 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  am just  pleading that  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no.   That  is  f ine but  th is is  how I  th ink 

we should do i t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  can f ix a date such as the 17t h  on the 

understanding that  I  can be approached to change i t  i f  there 

are good reasons to change i t  to another date.    

 So once there has been that  consul tat ion,  you can come 

back i f  there are good reasons not  to proceed with that  date.    

But  i f ,  af ter al l  the consul tat ions,  i t  seems f ine,  we can st i l l  

cont inue.    

 So i t  wi l l  accommodate you talk ing to the JP and put t ing 

the proposal  that  you have come up wi th as wel l .   So let  us. . .  

I  th ink what I  wi l l  do,  I  wi l l  say that  your side should submit  10 

wri t ten submissions on the “recusal ” ,  th is. . .  by c lose of  

business,  th is Fr iday.    

 And the Commission’s legal  team must submit  their  

wr i t ten submissions by close of  business,  Wednesday,  next  

week in relat ion to the “recusal  appl icat ion”.    

 I f ,  in the meant ime, I  decide that  I  can deal  wi th  the 

matter at  a pract ical  level ,  everyone wi l l  be informed.  At  the 

end of  the today,  we wi l l  adjourn to a speci f ic date,  but  on 

the understanding that  one,  the Commission wi l l  be in 

consul tat ion wi th the judge president .    20 

 Two, you might  be talk ing to the judge president ,  as you 

indicated.   And you wi l l  be f ree to approach the Commission 

wi th a view to another date being f ixed i f  there are good 

reasons not  to st ick to the 17t h,  okay? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Can we, maybe to. . .  because you. . .  
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remember this appl icat ion I  draf ted the not ice on my own 

without  legal . . .  you may say I  am a judge but  I  do not  know 

everything.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  you were senior counsel .  [ laughs]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   When i t  is a matter you 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   You pract ised for 19 years or so.   [ laughs]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   When i t  is your matter,  you. . .  

because when we were disbursing wi th my.. .  br ie f ly that  

maybe the word “recuse” could be along the context  that  10 

Advocate Soni  had descr ibed,  wi thin the funct ions of  the 

legal  cast ing because there is a def in i t ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So i t  is wi thin the context  of  thei r  

funct ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So I  do not  want us to belabour the 

word “ recuse” . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No,  no.   I  . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I t  should be . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  I  th ink we al l  understand what you 

would l ike to achieve.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What you want to achieve is that  Mr Soni  

should not  be the one leading you and quest ion ing you on 
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behal f  of  the Commission.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  because they are appointed by 

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So whether  we cal l  i t  “ recusal”  or 

“wi thdrawal”  . . . [ intervenes]   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Withdrawal.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  th ink nobody is  making an issue of  

that .   Ja,  I  th ink Mr Soni  was ment ioning i t  s imple because I  

may have ment ioned that . . .  the so-cal led “ recusal ” ,  you 

know.  But  nobody does not  understand what you want to  10 

achieve.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes,  i t  is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   So the substance stays.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Within the def in i t ion of  thei r  tasks of  

the legal  team.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja,  ja.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Because they have certain funct ions 

and they are appointed by you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    You can appo in t  anyone,  you can  20 

recuse anyone.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  the  one po in t  I  want  to  make in  

tha t  submiss ion ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i t  i s  no t  on ly  –  the 

reasons are  no t  on ly  what  Adv Son i  read in to  the  record ,  i t  
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on ly  concerns how he executed h is  funct ions befo re  you  

when he appeared here .  

CHAIRPERSON:    On the  24 t h .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    On the  24 t h .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  was a t  pa ins  no t  to  use the  word  

l ie .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  there  is  no  o ther  descr ip t ion  

un less  i f  I  speak  in  my mother  tongue but  in  the  language  10 

tha t  we are  us ing ,  i t  i s  l ies  and I  have prov ided ev idence 

and so  i t  i s  no t  on ly  what  happened a t  the  consu l ta t ion  bu t  

a lso  h i s  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    On the  24 t h .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    On the  24 t h .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   So tha t  i s  the  way  

fo rward  then.   We have dea l t  w i th  tha t .   Where  I  m ight  ask 

Mr  Son i  to  ass is t  now as you g ive  me your  s ide  o f  the  s to ry  20 

about  these a l legat ions and maybe as  I  ask  quest ions is  

where  I  need a  cer ta in  document  he  m ight  be  ab le  to  say i t  

i s  to  be  found in  h is  bund le  a t  what  page but  o therw ise  he  

w i l l  no t  ask  you on ly  quest ions or  lead you today.   So th is  

i s  an  oppor tun i ty  fo r  you to  jus t  te l l  me your  s ide  o f  the 
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s to ry,  you …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  Cha i rperson,  I  a lso  do  not  

have documents  and I  th ink  because when I  came here  the  

on ly  documents  I  had prepared –  you remember  the  manner 

o f  p resenta t ion  o f  documents  fo r  w i tnesses is  by  emai ls .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  yes .   Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  I  do  no t  have bund les .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  may need to  fami l ia r i se  myse l f  

w i th  the  bund le .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  then aga in ,  I  w i l l  have to  make 

i t  –  I  w i l l  s t i l l ,  on  my own –  remember  now I  do  no t  have an  

a t to rney.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  have an a t to rney,  I  w i l l  

have to  request  you,  Cha i rperson ,  tha t  i s  i t  –  to  make a  

request  to  you tha t  I  am not  re fus ing  to  g ive  you my 

vers ion .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t ,  you know,  I  w i l l  no t  f in ish  

coming to  th i s  Commiss ion ,  the  approach tha t  you  want  to  

take  to  s ta r t  today fo r  one hour  because remember  you  

acknowledged tha t  there  a re  cer ta in  documents  tha t  –  I  

th ink  you,  in  you r  words you sa id  the  ora l  tes t imony was  
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ak in  to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Substant ia l l y  the  same as the  a f f idav i t s .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  I  have  a  r igh t ,  Cha i rperson,  to  

look  a t  tha t  because when I  look  a t  the  de f in i t ion  o f  

ev idence in  the  room,  i t  compr i ses  o f  tha t  o ra l  tes t imony  

and when you a re  s i t t ing  a lone,  I  w i l l  no t  be  there ,  the  

lega l  team wi l l  be  ass is t ing  you to  summar ise  the  ev idence  

and what  –  I  am not  say ing  I  do  no t  t rus t  you but  you a re  to  

be  ass is ted  by  the  lega l  team i f  a rguments  and every th ing  

when you wr i te  your  f ina l  repor t .  10 

 That  ev idence w i l l  f ind  i t s  way the re  and I  have not  

been g iven an  oppor tun i ty  to  have a  look  a t  i t ,  

Cha i rperson.   And i t  means you have a lso  acknowledged  

and you sa id  ar rangements  can be made fo r  me to  ge t  the 

resu l ts  o f  tha t  whatever  they ob ta ined f rom the  ce l l  phone  

serv i ce  prov ide rs .   I t  means –  and I  th ink  jus t  be fore  we  

ad journed there  were  a r rangements  be ing  made tha t  tha t  

w i l l  be  prov ided.   So i t  i s  –  the  p ic tu re  w i l l  no t  be  comple te  

and remember,  Cha i rperson,  I  ment ioned a  no tebook tha t  I  

sa id  I  need to  ta lk  about .   Here  is  the  no tebook.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  I  do  no t  remember  hear ing  about  a  

no tebook,  ja .   What  i s  the  no tebook about?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    No,  I  sa id  there  i s  the  ev idence  

tha t  I  want  to  supp lement ,  i t  i s  con ta ined …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  the  no tebook.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    In  the  no tebook wh ich  I  must  

obv ious ly  t ranscr ibe  and maybe g ive  to  the  Commiss ion .   

That  i s  in  re la t i on  to  the  ev idence o f  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr 

D ing iswayo wh ich  par t  o f  i t  i s  in  the  s ta tement  o f  compla in t  

aga ins t  Advocate  Botes .   But  what  needs to  be  bee fed up,  

i f  I  may use tha t  word ,  i s  wha t  i s  in  here  because,  

Cha i rperson,  I  can s i t  and re la te  the  s to ry  to  you but  I  

need an oppor tun i ty  to  p roper ly  f i l e  a  s ta tement .    

And the  po in t  I  am mak ing  is  I  need to  –  because  

whethe r  I  p roceed w i thout  –  maybe when we ad journ  here  I  10 

w i l l  be  ab le  to  conv ince Mr  Nxasana to  s t i l l  represent  me,  I  

do  no t  know,  bu t  my request  to  you,  Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  

can I  supp lement  my s ta tements  and then tes t i f y  on  the  

da te  tha t  you w i l l  g ive  and maybe -  because i t  i s  ev idence  

o f  f i ve  peop le ,  I  do  no t  th ink  we w i l l  f in ish  in  one day and  

then I  can …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  i s  ev idence o f  f i ve  peop le  bu t  I  

w i l l  te l l  you  what  –  as  fa r  as  I  am concerned,  the  ev idence 

is  no t ,  as  fa r  as  I  reca l l ,  i s  no t  w ide- rang ing ,  too  w ide-

rang ing  because to  a  very  la rge  ex ten t  Mr  D ing iswayo and  20 

Ms Ngoy i  a re  ta lk ing  about  the  same th ing  in  regard  to  you  

and I  th ink  Mr  D ing iswayo la rge ly  jus t  conf i rms or  

cor robora tes  wha t  Ms Ngoy i  says.    

The one pa r t  wh ich  I  do  remember  tha t  Mr  

D ing iswayo ment ions is  tha t  a t  a  cer ta in  t ime,  I  th ink  
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November  2017 or  maybe –  I  th ink  November  2017,  he  

spoke to  PRASA’s  a t to rneys,  he  wanted to  ta lk  to  them 

about  the  S iyaya mat te rs .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  a t to rney sa id  they had been to ld  

no t  to  ta lk  to  h im.   I  th ink  to  a  very  la rge  ex ten t  tha t  i s  

tha t .   I  am not  sure  tha t  he  adds  anyth ing  tha t  Ms Ngoy i  

has no t  been say ing .    

And then,  o f  cou rse ,  Mr  Mogashoa,  I  do  no t  know 

how much o f  h is  ev idence you have a  prob lem wi th .  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  w i th  Mr  Mogashoa,  ac tua l l y  

ta lks  about  the  te rm inat ion  o f  h is  mandate .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Who te rminated h i s  mandate .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Which  is  no t  me.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  the  on ly  th ing  in  h is  ev idence I  

can dea l  w i th  i s  our  in te rac t ions.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  th ink  we had two meet ings .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  i s  what  I  w i l l  have to  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then Mr  Botes ,  he  has g i ven h is  
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ev idence and then there  is  Mr  Achmat .   So but  when i t  

comes to  Ms Ngoy i ,  Mr  D ing iswayo and Mr  Mogashoa,  i t  

seems to  me tha t  cer ta in l y  w i th  regard  to  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr  

D ing iswayo i t  i s  la rge ly  the  same ev idence cover ing  the  

same th ings.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.   No,  we have –  the  ac tua l  –  

because the  issue is  –  we l l ,  now we a re  ta lk ing  about  the  

mat te r,  bu t  I  do  no t  have a  prob lem,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  we are  t r y ing  to  look  a t  

…[ in te rvenes]  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you say i t  i s  f i ve  peop le ,  so  I  am 

say ing  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  the  issue w i th  Ms Ngoy i  and  

Mr  D ing iswayo,  the  c i r cumstances  lead ing  to  the  se t t lement  

o f  tha t  case.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    That  i s  conta ined in  what  I  have  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    P rov ided.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Submi t ted  to  Pre tor ia  Bar.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and tha t  i s  …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  the  on ly  th ing  tha t  I  am go ing 

to  add there  is  what  i s  in  th is  no tebook.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    When one has regard  to  the i r  

ev idence where  they say when I  a r r i ved a t  PRASA the  f i rs t  

th ing  I  asked them was these S iyaya mat te rs .   I  am go ing  

to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  add to  tha t .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    To  lead new ev idence and  prove,  

Cha i rperson,  tha t  tha t  was not  the  f i rs t  th ing .   Ac tua l l y,  we  

had in te rac t ions about  a  who le  lo t  o f  th ings and  S iyaya 

was not  the  issue .  

CHAIRPERSON:     Ja .  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So tha t  i s  when I  am ta lk ing  about  

t ranscr ib ing  cer ta in  th ings f rom h is  g roup.     

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Which ,  Cha i rperson,  in  a l l  fa i rness 

must  be  in  a  s ta tement  so  tha t  the  Commiss ion  is  ab le  to  

take  i t  back to  Ms Ngoy i  and Mr  D ing iswayo to  say th is  i s  

what  he  is  say ing .   I  do  no t  know i f  you w i l l  end  w i th  me 

but  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  we have –  you can leave i t  to  the 

lega l  team,  they know how to  do  the i r  job .   20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  i t  i s  someth ing  ve ry  ser ious,  

Cha i rperson,  the  a l legat ions I  am go ing  to  make requ i re  

invest iga t ion  and I  w i l l  i ns is t  on  an  invest iga t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  when we see them or  when we hear  

them.  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  when they can take  i t  f rom there .   

Maybe what  we shou ld  do  is ,  i f  –  we l l ,  one opt ion  i s  tha t  I  

can ask  you some o f  the  quest ions tha t  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  ask .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  today and  s t i l l  on  when the  day 

when you come back you can s t i l l  ge t  a  chance to  pu t  you r  

vers ion  as  you wou ld  have put  i t  today but  you – or  fo r  

today you jus t  answer  those quest ions tha t  a re  uppermost  

in  my mind.   That  i s  in  anothe r  way and I  th ink  tha t  i s  10 

quest ions tha t  you shou ld  have no  d i f f i cu l t y  answer ing .   I s  

tha t  a l r igh t?   H ’m? 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Oh,  Cha i rperson …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  f ine  w i th  you?  I t  i s  the  two o f  us  

ta lk ing .    

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Oh,  I  thought  i t  i s  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no ,  I  am propos ing  tha t  i f  you  

th ink  you might  have d i f f i cu l t y  in  jus t  p resent ing  your  s ide  

o f  the  s to ry  th is  a f te rnoon,  maybe I  shou ld  ask  you some o f  

the  quest ions tha t  I  want  to  ask  and then you can answer  20 

and on the  day  tha t  you w i l l  come back you can s t i l l  

p resent  your  s ide  o f  the  s to ry  the  way you wou ld  have 

been presented i t  today.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  have a  prob lem,  

Cha i rperson,  bu t  obv ious ly  on  p rov i so  tha t  I  am go ing  to  
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s t i l l  ge t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    An  oppor tun i ty.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    To  a t tend to  the  issue o f  lega l  

rep resenta t ion  and tha t  the  lega l  representa t i ve  w i l l  s t i l l  

have an oppor tun i ty  to  do  what  they are  supposed to  do .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  you  are  en t i t led  to  ask  me 

quest ions and as  I  say,  I  do  no t  have the  documents  be fore  

me but  these mat te rs  a re  in  my head.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   You can ask  me and i f  I  need –  i t  i s  

someth ing  tha t  I  need to  re fer  to  a  document  I  w i l l  te l l  you  

tha t  can I  have an oppor tun i ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   To  proper l y  look  a t  the  documents  

and answer  you p roper ly,  Cha i rperson.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  anothe r  op t ion  i s  you may have 

heard  tha t  we dec ided tha t  we might  have what  I  ca l l  20 

even ing  sess ions  in  o rder  to  t ry  and use as  much t ime as  

poss ib le  because  we are  l im i ted  in  te rms o f  t ime.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  made the  announcement  I  th ink  las t  

week,  i t  has  been in  the  med ia .   And by  even ing  sess ions,  
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what  I  have meant  i s ,  we might  have a  w i tness who g ives  

ev idence dur ing  the  day f rom morn ing  –  or  w i tnesses who  

g ive  ev idence in  the  morn ing  up  to  four  o ’c lock  and then 

we s tar t  w i th  another  w i tness and go up to  maybe seven,  

ha l f  past  seven o r  e igh t  because we are  p ressed fo r  t ime.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  someth ing  tha t  I  announced las t  

week.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  another  poss ib i l i t y  m ight  be  tha t  we 10 

ad journ  now but  s i t  be fore  the  end o f  th is  week.   We cou ld  

s i t  on  Wednesday.   That  wou ld  g i ve  you t ime to  look  a t  the  

documents  and whatever  you want  to  look  bu t  we wou ld  

s t i l l  –  and then we wou ld  then have what  I  ca l l  an  even ing  

sess ion  bu t  we wou ld  s t i l l  ad journ  to  a  da te .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Such as  the  one tha t  I  have ment ioned,  

17 t h .   So but  we  wou ld  jus t  make su re  tha t  we have got  

someth ing  tha t  we have covered.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    What  do  you say to  tha t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Wel l ,  Cha i rperson,  as  someone 

who knows my s tory,  I  wou ld  no t  have a  p rob lem to  dra f t  

my own s ta tement .  

CHAIRPERSON:     Ja ,  yes .  
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Even w i thout  –  I  am say ing  th is  

obv ious ly  w i thout  p re jud ice  or  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no ,  I  accept ,  ja .   I  accept ,  ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Because you may th ink  you wou ld  

be  ab le  to  do  i t  bu t  I  may be ab le  to  te l l  my s tory  bu t  

obv ious ly  where  my a t to rneys w i l l  he lp  me wou ld  be  w i th  

c ross-examinat ion  o f  the  w i tnesses.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  te l l ing  my s tory,  I  

…[ in te rvenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  i t  i s  no t  a  p rob lem.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  th ink  you have read my 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  have.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    My documents .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   I  a r t i cu la te  the  issues.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja ,  ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And because somet imes when you 

s t i l l  want  to  b r ie f  someone tha t  p rocess i t se l f  takes t ime.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    You have seen tha t  w i th  the  

prev ious lega l  team and the i r  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  i f  I  have su f f i c ien t  t ime on my  
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own w i thout  the  pressure  o f  work ,  I  p romise  you,  

Cha i rperson,  you w i l l  have a l l  my s ta tements .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  w i l l  be  ab le  to  p resen t  to  you  

in  the  manner  tha t  you w ish  because I  be l ieve  when  I  f i l e  a  

s ta tement  you may say i t  may reduce the  length  o f  t ime 

when I  make ora l  p resenta t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  hence,  Cha i rperson,  I  wou ld  

request  tha t  I  –  the  da te  tha t  you had in  m ind,  a t  f i rs t ,  the 10 

17 t h ,  the  in  be tween I  w i l l  be  ab le  to  d ra f t  –  th is  i s  a  

p romise  I  am mak ing  to  you,  no t  th rough any in te rmed iary,  

tha t  I  w i l l  be  ab le  to  g ive  you the  s ta tement .   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  Yes,  no ,  no ,  I  want  us  to  use 

somet ime th is  week to  make some prog ress bu t  I  am not  

say ing  we shou ld  abandon the  17 t h  o r  any o ther  da te  tha t  I  

m igh t  change to .    

So I  am say ing  i f  the  lega l  team,  i f  we ad journ  now,  

you get  g iven the  bund les ,  I  th ink  those are  the  ones 

beh ind  you,  ge t  g iven the  bund les .   I  suspect  tha t  a  lo t  o f  20 

documents  tha t  a re  the re  a re  documents  tha t  have been 

exchanged tha t  you know because the  s ta tements  o f  

var ious w i tnesses and annexures  have been sent  to  you  

but  you get  to  fami l ia r i se  yourse l f  w i th  the  bund les  and,  o f  

course ,  tomor row –  I  mean the  res t  o f  the  week the  JP has 
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g iven you –  has re leased you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we wou ld  then say tomorrow you  

have a  who le  day  and then Wednesday we cou ld  ag ree l i ke  

f i ve  o ’c lock .   I  th ink  dur ing  the  day I  w i l l  hear  ev idence 

f rom o ther  w i tnesses about  o ther  mat te rs  when they s top ,  

then a t  f i ve  o ’c lock  we s tar t  w i th  you,  you w i l l  have had 

tomorrow to  fami l ia r i se  yourse l f  p roper ly  w i th  the  bund les .   

I f  by  Wednesday  when you come,  you have p repared your  

s ta tement ,  i t  i s  ready,  i t  i s  f ine .   I f  i t  i s  no t  ready you can 10 

f in ish  i t  –  you can make i t  ava i lab le  when …[ in te rvenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Some o the r  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  bu t  we can cont inue.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  have a  prob lem wi th  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You do not  have  a  prob lem wi th  tha t .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I t  i s  jus t  regre t tab le  tha t  we wou ld  

waste  t ime w i th  w i thdrawal  app l i ca t ion  bu t  i f  you  a re  

inc l ined to  w i thout  mak ing  f ind ings to  re lease Advocate  

Son i  and h is  s tead get  somebody.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Or  i f  we can proceed w i th  you and  

me.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   And because tha t  in  i t se l f ,  hav ing  t  

make a  dec i s ion  wh ich  –  I  do  no t  know wh ich  way i t  w i l l  go .    
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  may now want  to  s t i l l  [ i naud ib le  –  

speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  tha t  dec is ion .     

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  I  do  no t  know,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  you are  r igh t ,  tha t  is  why I  

fac tored tha t  op t i on  in .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:    That  I  m igh t  dec ide  tha t  I  am no t  go ing  

to  dec ide  the  recusa l  app l i ca t ion  because fo r  p rac t ica l  10 

purposes maybe I  dec ide  tha t  I  w i l l  l e t  another  member  o f  

the  lega l  team take over  f rom Mr  Son i  fo r  purposes o f  

lead ing  your  ev idence and quest ion ing  you.   So there  i s  

tha t  poss ib i l i t y,  so  I  am look ing  a t  a l l  op t ions.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And,  Cha i rperson,  I  –  i f  you  

proceed in  the  -  you know,  because I  unders tand you  

a l ready d ismissed –  I  take  i t  as  an  abso lu t ion  f rom the 

ins tance tha t  I  shou ld  have ind i ca ted  tha t  th is  person and  

tha t  person.   So I  do  no t  want  to  come back w i th  the  same 

ob jec t ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Hav ing  w i th  ev idence v iew to say 

th is  par t i cu la r  one,  here  is  ev idence,  Cha i rperson what  do  

you say.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Ja ,  ja ,  ja .    
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JUDGE MAKHUBELE:   So  I  am …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you pre fer  the  o ther  op t ion .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  do  no t  want  you to  –  and maybe 

aga in ,  Cha i rperson,  you know,  somet imes when you ask  a  

quest ion  w i thout  i t  be ing  seen as  perce ived w i th  u l te r io r  

mot ives ,  i t  i s  a  s imp le  quest ion .   I t  i s  a  s imp le  quest ion  to  

say Ms Ngoy i  and –  I  am not  rev i s i t ing  tha t  bu t  I  am jus t  

say ing  tha t  when  you see me coming back w i th  ev idence  

when i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  can be  done amicab ly,  do  no t  

c lose  my door  and say Ms Makhube le  i s  t ry ing  to  de lay  the  10 

funct ions o f  the  Commiss ion  bu t  i t  i s  up  to  you,  

Cha i rperson,  to  say what  a re  the  charges aga ins t  th is  

woman and who is  b r ing ing  them?   

The pe rson br ing ing  them ho lds  lega l  ins t ruc t ions  

f rom PRASA and  you can cha l lenge me but  I  w i l l  beat  the  

cha l lenge,  Cha i rperson,  because  I  have had access to  

PRASA documents  and I  s t i l l  have  th is  PRASA document ,  I  

know who d id  work  fo r  PRASA but  I  do  no t  want  to  

embarrass  you.    

Hence,  I  am say ing  in  your  p r ivacy  w i th  the  peop le  20 

tha t  you have appo in ted ,  you jus t  do  your  –  I  am no t  te l l ing  

you how to  do  your  work .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  the  las t  th ing  you want  i s  me 

br ing ing  tha t  ha rd  ev idence to  you and you now hav ing  
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your  op t ion  to  now indu lge  me whereas when i t  i s  done in  

an  open manner  to  say no ,  yes ,  we acknowledge  peop le  

are  ge t t ing  ins t ruc t ions f rom PRASA,  peop le  are  be ing  

br ie fed  by  Ms Ngoy i ,  however  –  and then I  accept  and we 

move on,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Bu t  the  aggress ion  w i th  wh ich  my 

request  i s  be ing  made,  i t  i s  a  cha l lenge,  tha t  when I  ge t  

back home,  I  have mounta ins  and mounta ins  o f  documents  

f rom PRASA,  I  w i l l  s imp ly  bear  your  cha l lenge.   So i t  i s  10 

someth ing  tha t  I  want  you to  cons ide r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    So  tha t  we dea l  w i th  i t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  f ine .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    …in  an  amicab le  manner  and tha t  

whoever  you ass ign ,  you ascer ta in  tha t  Ms Makhube le  i s  

no t  coming back w i th  now ev idence,  Cha i rperson,  I  am not  

say ing  –  I  do  no t  even know who  I  can –  I  have a l ready  

d isc losed tha t  someone who wou ld  be  rep resent ing  me 20 

here  open up about  h is  conf l i c t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    And I  can a lso  te l l  you  tha t  even i f  

Adv Maleka had not  le f t ,  he  wou ld  no t  be  do ing  my case 

because my board  consu l ted  w i th  h im and i t  i s  someth ing  
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tha t  I  was go ing  to  d iscuss,  Cha i rperson,  so  I  am say ing  do  

not  take  what  I  am say ing  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  f ine ,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:     Wi th  –  as  a  s t ra tegy to  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Okay,  I  th ink  we  

are  agreed about  the  way fo rward .   Namely  tha t  you w i l l  

f i l e  wr i t ten  submiss ions on  the  recusa l  app l i ca t ion  by  c lose  

o f  bus iness on  Fr iday th is  week.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team wi l l  f i l e  

the i r  w r i t ten  submiss ions on  the  recusa l  app l i ca t ion  by  

c lose  o f  bus iness  on  Wednesday next  week.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And tha t  we are  go ing  to  ad jou rn  now 

but  we are  go ing  to  ad journ  to  Wednesday th is  week  a t  f i ve 

o ’c lock .   You w i l l  be  he re  a t  f i ve  o ’c lock  and fo r  us  on  tha t  

day to  do  what  we were  go ing  to  do .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now which  means i f  by  Wednesday I  20 

have made a  dec is ion  a t  a  p rac t ica l  leve l  tha t  somebody 

e lse  o ther  than Mr  Son i  w i l l  be  quest ion ing  you.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  me ta lk ing  to  you.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Answer ing  your  quest ions.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  in  the  meant ime,  the  

ad journment  to  Wednesday i s  ou t  o f  the  rea l i t y  tha t  we are  

now a t  e igh t  m inu tes  to  four  o ’c lock .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  want  us  to  use the  t ime tha t  we 

have and we have these even ings tha t  I  have dec ided upon  

and you are  qu i te  happy to  coopera te  in  tha t  regard .    

So i f  there  i s  somebody o the r  than Mr  Son i  tha t  can 

lead the  ev idence on Wednesday then tha t  w i l l  happen.   I f  

no t ,  you w i l l  ge t  a  chance to  p resent  your  ve rs ion ,  I  w i l l  10 

have quest ions bu t  you w i l l  have been ab le  to  go  th rough 

the  documents  as  we l l ,  the  bund les  tha t  the  Commiss ion  

w i l l  g ive  you.   A l r igh t?  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  have no ob jec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You have no p rob lem,  ja .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    To  tha t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    I  w i l l  a t tempt  to  pu t  together  what  I  

can.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I f  in  the  20 

meant ime …[ in tervenes]  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:  For  our  Wednesday engagement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I f  in  the 

meant ime,  i f  by  Wednesday when  you come here  you have 

put  together  –  you have dra f ted  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  
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o r  s ta tement  tak ing  in to  account  the  contents  o f  your  

no tebook,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I f  you  have not  been ab le  to ,  you  

w i l l  do  tha t  la te r  on  bu t  we w i l l  con t inue on Wednesday.  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   We are  go ing  to  ad journ  

so  the  lega l  team must  jus t  make su re  tha t  Judge  

Makhube le  has go t  a l l  the  necessary  bund les  so  tha t  she 

can prepare  p roper ly  fo r  Wednesday.    

We are  go ing  to  ad journ  then the  proceed ings on  

tha t  bas is .   The  idea o f  the  17  August  s t i l l  rema ins  bu t  10 

whethe r  we ad journ  to  tha t  da te  or  no t  i s  go ing  to  be  

someth ing  to  be  looked a t  when we f in ish  on  Wednesday 

but  i f  you  want  to  s ta r t  ta lk ing  to  the  JP about  the  17 t h .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes,  I  wou ld .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You may do so ,  so  tha t  maybe –  and the  

Commiss ion  w i l l  ta lk  to  h im as we l l .  

JUDGE MAKHUBELE:    Yes.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  we a re  go ing  to  ad journ  then unt i l  

f i ve  o ’c lock  on  Wednesday th is  week.   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 4  AUGUST 2020  20 


